



Det här verket är upphovrättskyddat enligt *Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk*. Det har digitaliserats med stöd av Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, för forskningsändamål, och får inte spridas vidare till allmänheten utan upphovsrättsinehavarens medgivande.

Alla tryckta texter är OCR-tolkade till maskinläsbar text. Det betyder att du kan söka och kopiera texten från dokumentet. Vissa äldre dokument med dåligt tryck kan vara svåra att OCR-tolka korrekt vilket medför att den OCR-tolkade texten kan innehålla fel och därför bör man visuellt jämföra med verkets bilder för att avgöra vad som är riktigt.

This work is protected by Swedish Copyright Law (*Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk)*. It has been digitized with support of Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, for scientific purpose, and may no be dissiminated to the public without consent of the copyright holder.

All printed texts have been OCR-processed and converted to machine readable text. This means that you can search and copy text from the document. Some early printed books are hard to OCR-process correctly and the text may contain errors, so one should always visually compare it with the images to determine what is correct.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET



LONGER LIFE - BETTER LIFE?

STUDIES ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG ELDERLY PEOPLE

Katarina Wilhelmson



Göteborg, 2003



LONGER LIFE - BETTER LIFE? STUDIES ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG ELDERLY PEOPLE

AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

som för avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Göteborgs universitet kommer att offentligen försvaras i sal 2118, Hus 2, "Hälsovetarbacken", Arvid Wallgrens Backe, Göteborg, fredagen den 13 juni 2003, kl 13.00

> av Katarina Wilhelmson leg läkare

Fakultetsopponent Professor Ann-Katrins Granérus Geriatriska kliniken, Universitetssjukhuset i Linköping

Avhandlingen baseras på följande delarbeten:

- I Wilhelmson K, Allebeck P, Berg S, Steen B. Mortality in three different cohorts of 70-year olds: The impact of social factors and health. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002; 14: 143-151
- II Wilhelmson K, Allebeck P, Steen B. Improved health among 70-year olds: Comparison of health indicators in three different birth cohorts. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002; 14: 361-370
- III Wilhelmson K, Rubenowitz Lundin E, Andersson C, Sundh V, Waern M. Interviews or medical records, which type of data yields the best health status information. Submitted
- IV Wilhelmson K, Andersson A, Waern M, Allebeck P. Elderly people's perspective on quality of life. Submitted
- V Waern M, Rubenowitz E, Wilhelmson K. Predictors of suicide in the old elderly. In press, Gerontology 2003;49. S Karger AG

LONGER LIFE – BETTER LIFE? STUDIES ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG ELDERLY PEOPLE.

Katarina Wilhelmson, Departments of Social Medicine and Geriatric Medicine, Göteborg University, Box 453, SE-405 30 Göteborg, Sweden

ABSTRACT

Background: Life expectancy has been increasing, but whether or not the added years are years with good health and quality of life have been vividly debated. Knowledge of the health conditions among elderly is of increasing importance. **Aim:**

- To analyse differences in mortality and morbidity in three cohorts of 70year olds with special regard to the impact of social factors.
- To compare health information from interviews and medical records.
- To investigate what elderly people consider being important for their quality of life.
- To determine predictors for suicide among the old elderly (75+).

Methods: Paper I and II: Random samples of 70-year old people born in 1901/02 (n=973), 1906/07 (n=1036) and 1911/12 (n=619). They were examined and interviewed regarding social background, social network and health. Death records were obtained up to and including 1998. Paper III-V: 85 elderly suicide cases (65 years of age and above) and 153 randomly selected control persons were interviewed in persons or by proxy, and their medical records were reviewed.

Results: The later born cohorts had lower mortality compared to the first-born cohort. Participants not living in an institution, non-smokers and those with one or more diseases were among those who had lower mortality in the later born cohorts. There were fewer 70-year olds not feeling healthy, fewer having many symptoms and there were indications of better physical functioning in the later born cohorts. Medical records gave better information concerning specific diseases, while interview data provided better measures of impairments. Elderly persons consider health, social relations, functional ability and activities to be important to the quality of life. Family discord, severe physical illness, loneliness and depression were risk factors for suicide in the old elderly. **Conclusions:** Good years seem to have been added - although we live longer with diseases. More good years can be gained with improvements in life style behavior and with continued improvements in health services and medical treatment. It is important to recognize and treat depressions among elderly people, especially in the context of severe illness and impairment.

Key words: mortality, morbidity, social factors, quality of life, suicide, aged, epidemiology, cohort studies

ISBN 91-628-5527-1 Kompendiet Göteborg 2003

LONGER LIFE - BETTER LIFE? STUDIES ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG ELDERLY PEOPLE

Katarina Wilhelmson

Göteborg, 2003

Departments of Social Medicine and Geriatric Medicine, Institute of Community Medicine Göteborg University, Göteborg SWEDEN

Distribution Katarina Wilhelmson

Göteborg University Department of Social Medicine P.O. Box 453 SE-405 30 Göteborg, Sweden

Katarina.wilhelmson@socmed.gu.se

ISBN 91-628-5527-1





LONGER LIFE – BETTER LIFE? STUDIES ON MORTALITY, MORBIDITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE AMONG ELDERLY PEOPLE.

Katarina Wilhelmson, Departments of Social Medicine and Geriatric Medicine, Göteborg University

ABSTRACT

Background: Life expectancy has been increasing, but whether or not the added years are years with good health and quality of life have been vividly debated. Knowledge of the health conditions among elderly is of increasing importance. **Aim:**

- To analyse differences in mortality and morbidity in three cohorts of 70year olds with special regard to the impact of social factors.
- To compare health information from interviews and medical records.
- To investigate what elderly people consider being important for their quality of life.
- To determine predictors for suicide among the old elderly (75+).

Methods: Paper I and II: Random samples of 70-year old people born in 1901/02 (n=973), 1906/07 (n=1036) and 1911/12 (n=619). They were examined and interviewed regarding social background, social network and health. Death records were obtained up to and including 1998. Paper III-V: 85 elderly suicide cases (65 years of age and above) and 153 randomly selected control persons were interviewed in persons or by proxy, and their medical records were reviewed.

Results: The later born cohorts had lower mortality compared to the first-born cohort. Participants not living in an institution, non-smokers and those with one or more diseases were among those who had lower mortality in the later born cohorts. There were fewer 70-year olds not feeling healthy, fewer having many symptoms and there were indications of better physical functioning in the later born cohorts. Medical records gave better information concerning specific diseases, while interview data provided better measures of impairments. Elderly persons consider health, social relations, functional ability and activities to be important to the quality of life. Family discord, severe physical illness, loneliness and depression were risk factors for suicide in the old elderly. **Conclusions:** Good years seem to have been added - although we live longer with diseases. More good years can be gained with improvements in life style behavior and with continued improvements in health services and medical treatment. It is important to recognize and treat depressions among elderly people, especially in the context of severe illness and impairment.

Key words: mortality, morbidity, social factors, quality of life, suicide, aged, epidemiology, cohort studies

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

Paper I

Wilhelmson K, Allebeck P, Berg S, Steen B. Mortality in three different cohorts of 70-year olds: The impact of social factors and health. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002; 14: 143-151

Paper II

Wilhelmson K, Allebeck P, Steen B. Improved health among 70-year olds: Comparison of health indicators in three different birth cohorts. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002; 14: 361-370

Paper III

Wilhelmson K, Rubenowitz Lundin E, Andersson C, Sundh V, Waern M. Interviews or medical records, which type of data yields the best health status information. (Submitted, Methods of Information in Medicine)

Paper IV

Wilhelmson K, Andersson A, Waern M, Allebeck P. Elderly people's perspective on quality of life (Submitted, Gerontology)

Paper V

Waern M, Rubenowitz E, Wilhelmson K. Predictors of suicide in the old elderly. In press, Gerontology 2003;49. S Karger AG

Reprints were made with permission from the publishers.



och rosor i ett sprucket krus är ändock alltid rosor

Gustaf Fröding Idealism och realism

Bild: Anders Wilhelmson



CONTENTS

TERMINOLOGY AND ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	11
BACKGROUND	
Historical data	12
Compression of mortality	16
Compression of morbidity	19
Validity of health status information	21
Health and quality of life	22
Suicide and elderly people	24
AIMS OF THE THESIS	
Overall aim	26
Specific aims	26
METHODS	
Design of paper I-II	27
Statistical analysis	29
Design of paper III-V	33
Suicide cases	33
Population controls	34
The interviews	36
Medical record review	37
Assessment of psychiatric illness	38
Assessment of physical illness	38
Consensus rating	39
Statistical analysis of paper III	41
Statistical analysis of paper IV	41
Statistical analysis of paper V	41
Ethics	42
RESULTS	
Paper I	43
Paper II	43
Paper III	44
Paper IV	45
Paper V	45

DISCUSSION	
Strengths and limitations	46
H70	46
The suicide project	47
Cohort differences in health	47
Mortality	47
Morbidity	49
Self-assessed health	49
Diseases	49
Functional impairment/disability	49
Gender and health development	51
Need of institutional care and health development	53
Social network and health development	54
Smoking and health development	54
Education and health development	56
Information on health status	56
Quality of life and health	57
Suicide and health	59
CONCLUSIONS	
Main findings	61
Conclusions	61
In closing	62
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	63
SUMMARY	64
REFERENCES	66
PAPERS I-V	

TERMINOLOGY AND ABBREVIATIONS

ADL	Activities of daily living: personal care, tasks such as eating/drinking, personal hygiene, using the toilet, rising from a chair, getting in/out of bed, moving around indoors, dressing, walking outdoors.	
CI	Confidence Interval	
CIRS-G	Comprehensive Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics	
CPRS	Comprehensive Psychiatric Rating Scale	
DALE	Disability adjusted life expectancy: The number of healthy years of life that can be expected on average in a given population.	
Dependency	Need of help from others to maintain a normal life.	
Disability	Inability to perform tasks in a normal manner.	
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition	
GI	Gastro-intestinal	
Functional limitations	Inability to perform specific physical or mental tasks used in daily life.	
ICD	International Classification of Diseases	
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health	
Impairment	The anatomical or physiological damage caused by disease or injury	
Life Expectancy	The average number of years that a person can expect to live, usually based on contemporary death rates. May be calculated from birth, or from other ages.	

Life span	The maximum number of years that a person has been known to live.
OR	Odds Ratio
Old old/old elderly	Aged 75 and over
Oldest old	Aged 80 and over
RA	The Augmented Rank-Order Agreement Coefficient
RP	Relative Position
RR	Relative Risk
SSRI	Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors
Young old	Aged 65 - 75
Younger/older cohort used in paper I and II instead of earlier b born cohort, which is used in the thesis. born/later born are the terminology used the recent studies, and is more appropria the cohorts are the same age at the first examination but born in different years.	
WHO	World Health Organization

INTRODUCTION

People born in the early years of the 20th century have experienced important changes in society. There has been a rapid development throughout the century, and several major events have occurred which have affected people's lives. The World War One and Two, the economic depression, urbanisation, great changes in the labour market, women entering the labour market, increased education, better living conditions, the introduction of television, and during the last decades the entrance of data and internet, are some of the most obvious changes. Society today depends on the technology to very great extent, while a hundred years ago most people depended on the capacity of their own bodies. The old of today had an upbringing very different from what we had, who are still in our working ages, and their circumstances as elderly differ in many aspects from that of their parents and grandparents at old age. This is important to be aware of when trying to assess the "lives" of people at older ages.

The health situation can be assessed and described in many ways. Historically, the first, and the easiest in the aspect of measure, was to compare the death rates. Mortality is undoubtedly a measure of health, and historically a better measure than it can be seen to be today. In the time when infectious diseases was the greatest threat to health status, and the mortality in infectious disease was high, mortality was a good measure of the health of a society. Due to the shift from infectious diseases to more chronic, non-fatal diseases, there was a need to use other measures. The International Classification of Diseases (ICD) began with comparing death causes in the late 1800's. In 1948 (ICD-6), WHO also included diseases, not merely death causes, to the classification. In the latest revision (ICD-10), there is now also the intention to compare and classify "related health problems". The importance of functional ability has led to another classification, the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF), since the health status can not merely be measured has diseases and diagnosis, and also taking into account contextual factors such as environment and personal factors. Kovács has examined different concepts of health, and has arrived at a definition of health as follows, "The healthier a physical or mental characteristic, process, reaction is, the more it makes it possible for the individual to adapt to reasonable social norms without pain and suffering, and the longer, and happier a life it will be able to ensure him in that society". He also stresses that it is impossible to define health and disease without paying attention to the notion of environment [1]. Fugelli and Ingstad found three characteristic qualities in lay perspective on health: wholeness: health is related to all aspects of life and society; pragmatism: health is experienced and evaluated according to what people find reasonable to expect, given their age, medical condition and social situation; and individualism: every human being is unique, and health and strategies for health must be individualised [2]. Quality of life has become

increasingly important as an outcome in medical research during later decades, and many quality of life instruments have been developed in order to compare the quality of life between individuals and between populations.

BACKGROUND

Historical data

The first collection of national population data began around 1750 in Sweden and Finland. Before that, not much is known about how long humans lived. It has been estimated that life expectancy at birth could have been around 20-30 years. The rise in life expectancy probably began before the industrialisation. The average life expectancy at birth in Sweden from 1751 to 1999 is shown in figure 1. By 1750, it was 38 years in Sweden. Then there was a slow and irregular increase for a century or more. After 1870, life expectancy rose quite rapidly in industrialised countries. By 1900, life expectancy had doubled, and by 2000 tripled (figure 1). Similar development has been observed in most industrial nations [3,4]. Life expectancy has increased substantially in the developed countries during the 20th century. For example, the life expectancy at birth was 48.3 for men and 51.1 for women in the US around 1900, and increased to 74.2 and 79.9, respectively, in year 2000 [5,6]. For Sweden, the corresponding figures were 52.8 for men and 55.3 for women in 1900, and 77.0 and 82.4 in year 2000. Developed countries are experiencing an aging population, due to increasing survival into old age and a decrease in number of births [3]. Now, the rise in life expectancy has slowed down, due to the fact that it now depends on the reduction of death rates at older ages. However, the reduction of death rates has not slowed down. The decline of mortality at older ages has accelerated since around 1970 [4]. Female death rates at older ages have fallen since 1950, with large absolute reductions at advanced ages. Men have experienced a similar pattern, though the progress in reducing male mortality has generally been slower than for females. In all ages, men have higher death rates than women [7]. Half of the female and a third of the male deaths are now occurring after age 80 in developed countries [8]. The decreasing death risks for the older age groups in Sweden, 1861-1999, are shown in figure 2.

The average national gain in life expectancy at birth has been 66% for men and 71% for women from 1900 to 1990. For some nations, like Portugal and Spain, life expectancy has more than doubled during the same period. Japan and Singapore has now reached 80 years in life expectancy at birth. The relative difference between the developed countries in life expectancy has narrowed with time, and the female versus male difference has widened [5,6]. Now, women outlive men by between 5 - 9 years, compared to 2 - 3 years in 1900. The gap

Figure 1. Life expectancy at birth, Sweden, 1751 to 1999



Source: the Berkeley Mortality Database (BMD), http://demog.berkeley.edu/wilmoth/mortality

13



Figure 2. Death risks/year for different age-groups, 1861-1999, Sweden

appears to have levelled off during recent years in several countries, among them Sweden and the US [5,9], as can be seen in figure 1 for Sweden. However, some very low mortality countries, like Japan and Switzerland are still experiencing an increase in the gender gap. The gender gap is usually smaller in developing countries [5,6].

There have been some exceptions from the life expectancy increase during the 20th century. The mortality decline slowed temporarily during the 1950s and '60s for many developed countries [3,10]. During the 1990s there were a stagnation and even reversal of earlier progress in parts of Africa, due to the AIDS epidemic, and in parts of the former Soviet bloc due to social disruptions and instability [4].

Sweden has one of the oldest populations in the world, and Sweden has historically led the world in longevity, although Japan now has passed Sweden as the country with the highest life expectancy at birth [11]. In 1995, Sweden was the demographically oldest of the world's nations, with 18% of the population aged 65 and over [12]. In year 2000, Italy and Japan had the demographically oldest populations measured as percent of population 65 years and over [13]. The maximum age at death in Sweden rose from about 101 years during the 1860s to about 108 years during the 1990s. The pace of increase accelerated after 1969, due to the faster decline in old-age mortality during recent decades [14], and the trends in death rates and in maximal ages at death show no sign of approaching a finite limit [3]. But for life expectancy to raise significantly during the 21th century it requires much larger mortality reductions at older ages [15].

Before the 1960s, infectious diseases were the major cause of death. It has now been replaced by cardiovascular disease as the major death cause for both men and women (in the developed countries as well as in many developing countries), although death rate due to cardiovascular disease has declined at older ages in many developed countries [6,10,16]. Cancer is usually the number two on the list of major death causes, with different changes over time for different types of cancer. Suicide rates are higher in ages over 75 than in younger ages, especially for men, and there is no clear trend in elderly suicide rates in the developed countries [6,10]. It has been predicted that suicide will become the tenth most common cause of death by year 2020 [17].

The shift in disease patterns can be referred to as the epidemiologic transition, which can be described in four stages. The first stage is "the age of pestilence and famine", probably lasting for about thousands of years during which it was a stagnation of death rates at extremely high levels. Death rates fluctuated due to epidemics. The major killers included influenza, pneumonia, diarrhoea, smallpox and tuberculosis. Infant and child mortality was high, and life

expectancy was around 20-40 years. The second stage was "the age of receding pandemics", during which there were rapid improvements in sanitation and standards of living. There was a redistribution of death from the young to the old, and life expectancy increased to about 50 years. The third stage, "the age of degenerative and man-made diseases", can be described as a plateau phase. The major causes of death were established as chronic degenerative diseases, such as heart, cancer and stroke, which tend to kill at old ages. The life expectancy reaches the seventh decades. We are now experiencing the fourth stage "the age of delayed degenerative diseases", characterised by rapid mortality declines in advanced ages, due to a postponement of the ages at which degenerative diseases tend to kill. Rapidly declining death rates are seen mostly in advanced ages, for both sexes, due to the development of new drugs and treatments of degenerative diseases [18].

Compression of mortality

In 1900, the infant mortality was high and there was also a relatively high mortality through the middle years and a gradual increase at later ages. The mortality was mainly due to acute, often infectious diseases [5,19]. During the 20th century, there was a major decline in the prevalence in tuberculosis, acute rheumatic fever, smallpox, diphtheria, tetanus, poliomyelitis and pneumococcal pneumonia in the young. This was due to for example improved nutrition, better living conditions, water sterilization, personal hygiene, public health and also immunization, medical care and new treatments (such as antibiotics) [3,20]. There has been a shift in the distribution of causes of death from acute infectious diseases to more chronic degenerative diseases [11], the so-called epidemiological transition. Reductions in death rates among infants and children give much greater improvement in the average length of life than similar reductions at older ages [3]. Due to the decreased mortality at younger ages, the survival curve has become more and more rectangular [3,19], with now a very low infant mortality, low mortality in the middle years and more people dying at high ages, as shown in figure 3. Fries postulated in 1980 that more and more people would die at about the same age, "compression of mortality". He also estimated that it would occur at about age 85. This has been debated ever since, and there are arguments both for [21,22] and against the hypothesis of compression of mortality [23,24].

With decreased mortality in younger ages and decreased fertility, many developed nations experience an aging population. In Sweden, those 65 years of age and older constituted 8,4% in 1900 compared to 17,5% in 1995, an increase by 359%, and those aged 80 and over constituted 1,1% in 1900 and 4,7% in 1995, an increase by 757%. In the same period, the total Swedish population

increased by 172% (Source: Berkeley Mortality Database) [25]. The population for Sweden 1900 and 1995 is shown in figure 4. It has been projected that the population aged 85 and over will increase by 350% between 2000 and 2050 in the US [26]. Life expectancy at age 65 is now increasing more rapidly than life expectancy at birth in most developed countries. This is primarily due to reduction in heart disease and stroke among middle-aged and older. Old-age survival has increased substantially since 1950 [7]. The fact that the mortality has been improving faster at the very old than at the younger old ages, does not support the compression of mortality hypothesis [5].



Figure 3. The rectangularisation of survival curves in Sweden during the 20th century





Figure 4. Swedish population 1900 and 1995

There are a few population-based studies, mainly from the US, that have shown lower mortality among elderly in later born cohorts. In the Alameda County Study in California two cohorts from 1965 and 1974, randomly selected from all noninstitutionalized adults, were followed prospectively for 17 years. Among men, the mortality risk was 30-45% lower in the later born cohort, with a more pronounced reduced mortality in higher ages. Among women there was a 22-40% decline for those less than 80 years, and a 12% decline for ages 80 to 89 [27]. Three cohorts of women and men aged 50-59 years in 1950, 1960 and 1970 respectively have been followed for 20 years within the Framingham study. Cardiovascular mortality declined 59% among women and 53% among men between the cohorts. All-cause mortality declined 17% among women and 18% among men [28]. Also in Italy, there was a decline in both total mortality and in cardiovascular mortality from 1982 to 1993, for people aged 75 or above [29].

Thus, data are indicating that we are living longer, and most demographers think that we will live even longer in the future [30]. It is, however, not known if the increased longevity is evenly distributed in groups with different social background and health conditions. Earlier studies have investigated predictors for life expectancy at older ages. Ljungquist found that health and physical activity had the greatest impact [31]. Self-rated health, as well as a number of social factors, such as marital status, occupation, socio-economic status and social network, is known to have impact on health and survival [31-37]. Whether or not the increased survival is more or less pronounced in groups with different social or health-related background is poorly known. There is thus need for knowledge about changes in mortality among elderly over time, differentiating according to social and other background factors. It would be important to know whether persons with good socio-economic conditions have gained more than those with poor conditions. More information is needed for planning of health care and prevention services.

Compression of morbidity

In his classical article from 1980, Fries also hypothesised that the morbidity would be postponed into later ages, and more so than the mortality, giving us less years with ill health, "compression of morbidity" [19]. Whether this is happening or not, have been debated ever since [38-45]. One alternative is that we are prolonging the time with ill health, due to morbidity not being postponed, "the expansion", "extension" or "prolongation of morbidity", or "pandemic of disabilities" [40,43,46]. An other scenario could be "postponement of morbidity", longer life but still the same amount of years with ill health, because mortality and morbidity is postponed to the same degree [41,47]. There is also the theory of "dynamic equilibrium", that postulates that although increasing life expectancy does lead to more disease and disability, they will gradually become less serious as each successive generation becomes healthier [44,46,48].

Previous studies that have compared the morbidity in different cohorts of elderly have come to somewhat contradictory results. There have been reports of decreasing prevalence of cardiovascular diseases, arthritis and emphysema, and increase in orthopedic disorders such as hip fractures and other osteoporotic fractures [49-51]. In the Framingham Study, a decrease was found in stroke severity in both sexes as well as a decrease in stroke incidence among women [52]. In the Manitoba Longitudinal Study on Aging there was an increase in number of reported health problems in later born cohorts [53]. Some studies have reported an increase in self-perceived health in later born cohorts [54-56],

while others have reported a decrease [53,57-59], and some could not find any difference in self-perceived health [60]. Improvements in social conditions such as housing, has been reported [61-63], and also better education in later born cohorts [62.63]. There have also been changes in life-style, such as smoking, and increase in educational level [56]. In the Gerontological and Geriatric Population Studies in Göteborg (H70), there was an increase in the prevalence of smoking among women and a decrease among men [63]. The Alameda County Study has also found improvements in some risk factors [27]. Concerning disability, there have been many recent reports of decrease in later born cohorts. Many of the studies are from the US, but there are also reports from other developed countries, including Sweden [50,64-75]. Studies with more recent data show the greatest declines in disability, and the rates of decline seem to have accelerated after 1994 [76]. However, Winblad et al found a decrease in disability only for women [77], Picavet and Hoeymans found that the prevalence of mobility disability dropped slightly for men between 1990 and 1998, but not for women [78].

According to World Health Report 2000 [79], Japan leads the world's estimated average healthy life expectancy (measured as DALE = disability adjusted life expectancy) with 74.5 years at birth 1999. Sweden was ranked on 4th place, with 73.0 DALE. The results from the Global Burden of Disease Study suggest that populations with higher mortality have higher prevalence of disability, and the proportion of the expected life span with disability declines as life expectancy rises [80]. Robine et al report increases in disability free life expectancy that exceeds the increase in life expectancy during the last decade, giving a compression of morbidity [81]. As Mathers et al conclude: higher life expectancy at birth is associated with a compression of morbidity, fewer expected years of good health are lost due to the non-fatal consequences of diseases and injury as mortality rates declines [79]. Heart disease, osteoarthritis, hip fracture, diabetes, intermittent claudication, stroke, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, visual impairment, hearing impairment, depression and cognitive impairment are among chronic diseases that have been found to be strongly related to disability [45].

The reason for the decline in disability is probably multifactorial. Reasons discussed has been improved technology (e.g. improved surgery for example joint replacement and cataract and new pharmaceutical drugs), changes in socioeconomic status with fewer manual jobs and higher education, behavioral changes such as smoking and physical activity, use of assistive devices and reduces exposure to infectious diseases [67,76,82], but the reduction in disability is still largely unexplained [76]. One way to enhance the knowledge is to investigate if the reduction in disability varies between different subgroups regarding socioeconomic factors and health status.

Although it is known that socio-economic status influences the health status and disability [45,83-85], few studies has focused on trends in disparities for major demographic and socio-economic groups, and considerable gaps in our understanding of trends in disparities across major demographic groups remains [73]. For the planning of future health care and preventive services, it is important to know how the development is distributed in different subgroups concerning social background and health status. As Freedman et al argue "A thorough understanding of trends in disparities is critical not only for identifying groups that might benefit from various health-related interventions but also for projecting the future course of population-level health trends." [73].

Validity of health status information

Many of these studies concerning compression of morbidity have used selfreported data (through questionnaires or interviews) to assess the health status [73]. Other data sources available are medical records data, register data (which in many cases is based on medical records data or self-reported data) and medical examinations. The validity of the results depends highly on the validity of the measurements of health status. Thus, it is important to know what type of information the different data sources provide, and the accuracy of that information.

Many studies use either self-reported data or medical records data to assess the prevalence of chronic illness and impairment. Analyses of agreement between these two data sources have shown that they do not always provide the same information [86,87]. There are both studies that conclude that self-reported information is inaccurate [88] as well as those that regard self-reported data as very reliable sources of information [89].

When self-reported data and medical records are compared, data from medical records are often seen as the gold standard [86,90-92]. However, as Kvale et al discuss: "The most confounding problem in charts is that absence of information does not mean absence of a condition, symptom, or function" [93]. Many symptoms and impairments are not recorded in medical records, either because patients do not mention them to the physician or because the physician does not consider them relevant to what the patient is seeking for [93,94]. Physicians' notes are known to have very little functional status documentation [95]. Self-reported data, however, provide information on symptoms and impairments that the person has never sought medical care for. On the other hand, there are many interviewed respondents who fail to report diagnoses found in medical records [96]. This could be due to recall bias, unawareness or misunderstanding of the diagnosis or unwillingness to report it. Another reason could be that the person does not find it worth

reporting. Medical records as data source on health status do only include people who have had contacts with medical care [92], and consequently medical records contains no information about those who has not had any contact with health care.

Agreement between self-reported data and medical records is known to vary by different diseases [87,97,98]. Earlier studies have shown that agreement is better for well-defined diagnoses, that are easy to explain and that require regular follow-up and treatment [89,94].

Neither medical records nor self-reported data can be regarded as "the gold standard", since both lack information. Using both data sources ought to give a better picture and the opportunity to estimate which data source contributes most to the combined information.

Health and quality of life

Health is not easy to define, and there are many definitions. The word "health" comes from "Hal" in old English, meaning hale, whole, sound in wind and limb. The World Health Organization's, WHO's, definition is very broad "a state of complete physical, mental and social well being and not merely the absence of disease and infirmity" [99].

Health in old age cannot meaningfully be defined as the absence of disease [100]. For most of us, growing old does eventually involve living with chronic diseases, health problems and decreasing capacity. Older people may modify their criteria of perceived health so that deterioration of physical health loses its significance for perceived health [101]. For those with chronic disease, the goal of health care cannot always be freedom from disease. Instead, the goal can be to help persons to live as good a life as possible despite illness and impairments [102,103], that is, to maintain a good quality of life. Thus, health is not merely evaluated from diseases and impairments. It is also necessary to capture the individual and the individual's social and material context. In such, it is close to the concept of quality of life.

Quality of life was first mentioned in 1920, but did not come into use until after the Second World War [104]. Social scientists started to use it in the 1970s [102]. In 1977, it became a key word in the Medical Subjects Headings. Since then, there has been en exponential rise in research in which quality of life is mentioned [104]. Now, a Medline search with quality of life as MeSH Major Topic yields over 12 000 hits. One out of many definitions is the definition by the WHOQOL Group: "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns. It is a broad ranging concept affected in a complex way by the persons' physical health, psychological state, level of independence, social relationships and their relationship to salient features of their environment" [105]. They state that the most important potential application of quality of life assessment is perhaps in sensitising health care professionals to look beyond diseases, disability and symptoms [106]. There is, however, no consensus definition of quality of life [107,108].

Many quality of life instruments have been developed during the last decades [104,109]. The impact of health status on the quality of life is often emphasized and many quality of life instruments measure general health status rather than quality of life [110-112]. Some use the term health-related quality of life [111,112] to emphasize that they measure the quality of life as influenced by health status, but the two terms are sometimes confounded [113,114]. There are many dimensions of quality of life besides health status and many quality of life instruments include different dimensions or domains such as physical functioning, emotional functioning, cognitive functioning, social functioning, life satisfaction, health perceptions, economic status, recreation, sexual functioning and energy and vitality [115]. Studies on quality of life in elderly have shown that functional capacity, perceived health, good housing conditions, an active life style and good social relationships are some of the factors that explain life satisfaction and subjective quality of life [102].

Health and socioeconomic conditions are factors that enhance quality of life, but good health and a good socio-economic situation do not guarantee a good quality of life [102]. The influence of health status on the quality of life is not easily understood. Functional status and symptoms may well have an impact on quality of life, but they are not synonymous with quality of life [116] and assumptions about the overall quality of life of individual patients should not be based on measures of their health status alone [117]. As Albrecht et al point out, there are many people who rate their quality of life as good or even very good despite poor health status – the "disability paradox" [118]. Strawbridge et al have shown that many elderly people with chronic conditions rate themselves as aging successfully [119].

Quality of life measurements have been criticized, since there is no clear definition of what quality of life is and how to operationalise it [116]. Gill and Feinstein found that only 11 out of 75 articles measuring quality of life, actually defined quality of life [113]. They conclude that quality of life can only suitably be measured by determining the opinions of patients and by supplementing (or replacing) the instruments developed by "experts" [113].

In order to help social and health services to assist persons to improve quality of life, there is a need to know what people themselves consider being important to

the quality of life. Few studies have asked individuals to define what they consider to be important for their quality of life [110]. In a Swedish study by Nilsson et al, they asked 87 healthy elderly persons "What does quality of life mean to you?". They found that the emphasis was on health and independence. contentment, and a peaceful life, personal integrity in terms of a moral and caring attitude [120]. In a study by Bowling, a random sample of 2000 adult members of the British population were asked about the most important things in their lives [121]. They were most likely to mention relationships with family or relatives, followed by their own health. Similar results were reported by Farguhar, who found that social contacts appeared to be as valued components of a good quality of life in the elderly (aged 65 and over) as health status [122]. Information of what elderly people consider constituting quality of life is still scarce. To be able to assess the quality of life of elderly people, it is vital to know what the individuals themselves consider to be important for their quality of life. One way to enhance the knowledge is to ask elderly persons themselves, what they consider to be quality of life, and to explore the importance of gender, age and health status on what is considered to be important to quality of life.

Suicide and elderly people

To choose to end your own life implies that you cannot see any hope for the future and that death is seen better than life. Thus, suicide can be seen as the extreme of bad quality of life. The suicide rates are highest among old persons in almost all industrialised countries [123,124]. Old age is often accompanied with deterioration in health status and physical function, as well as losses of social roles and relations, due to the own ill health and also to close friends growing older, which might explain the high suicide rates among elderly people. Most countries are experiencing a growing proportion of elderly, and suicidologists predict a dramatic increase in both rate and the total number of late-life suicides over the next three decades [125]. Suicide is predicted to be the tenth most common cause of death by year 2002 [17].

It is not known if there is any significant alteration in prevalence of suicidal ideation of over the life course [126]. In a population-based study of 85-years olds in Göteborg, Sweden, 15.9% of the subjects reported suicidal feelings last month [127], which is in accordance with another Swedish study reporting 13.3% of elderly having suicidal thoughts the last two weeks [128]. However, suicidal feelings are much less frequent among mentally healthy. In the study in Göteborg, only 4.0% of the mentally healthy 85-years old had thought that life was not worth living during the last month, 4.0% had had death wishes, 0.9% had thought of taking there own life and none had seriously considered suicide. Among subjects with mental disorders had 29% thought that life was not worth living, 27.5% had had death wishes, 9.2% had thought about taking their lives

and 1.7% had seriously considered suicide. The frequency of suicidal feelings was significantly higher among subjects with all types of mental disorders, especially depressive disorders [127]. Suicidal thoughts among elderly have also been found to be associated with increased disability in daily living, institutionalisation, visual problems and the use of psychotropic drugs [128]. Although the suicide rates are high at old ages, it is known that older adults have the lowest rates of attempted suicide across the life span [123], and elderly people who attempt suicide have a high mortality both from completed suicide and death from other causes [129].

A number of recent studies have characterised persons who commit suicide in later life [130-136]. They all found that most elderly persons who commit suicide suffer from depression. Suicide appears to be more strongly associated with depression in the elderly than in the younger age groups [137]. Other risk factors are other mental disorders, personality disorder and personality trait accentuation, physical illness, functional limitations, limited social network and family discord [131-136,138-143].

There is some evidence that the prevalence or depression may increase after the age of 75 -80. Reasons for this include social isolation, institution, bereavement, impaired activities of daily living and declining physical health [144], and it has been shown that the presence of multiple chronic medical conditions increases the likelihood of depressive symptoms [145]. The majority of suicide victims with serious physical illness also suffers from psychiatric illness, particularly affective disorders [125]. Conwell et al state that physical illness and functional impairment increase the risk of suicide in late life, but their influence appears to be mediated by depression [138].

All these studies investigating risk factors for suicide in later life include also the young elderly, some even in their early fifties. There is a lack of controlled studies that specifically address risk factors for suicide in the old elderly, despite the disproportionate suicide mortality in this age group. Increased knowledge about the risk factors enhances our possibilities to prevent suicides and improve the quality of life of those in risk of committing suicide.

AIMS OF THE THESIS

Overall aim

The overall aim of the thesis was to analyse aspects of mortality, morbidity and quality of life among elderly people

Specific aims

The specific aims of the thesis were

- to analyse differences in mortality in three different cohorts of 70-yearolds, and to examine whether the development of mortality differed in subgroups according to social background, social network, self-assessed health and number of diseases at age 70.
- to analyse differences in morbidity measured as self-assessed health, number of symptoms, number of diseases and physical function – in three different cohorts of 70-year olds, with special regard to the impact of social factors on the development of morbidity
- to compare data from interviews and medical records regarding diseases, symptoms and impairments among elderly, and to analyse the agreement between a consensus from both data sources and data from interviews and medical records, respectively.
- to investigate what elderly people consider to be important for their quality of life, and to explore the impact of gender, social factors and health status on individuals' perspective of quality of life.
- to determine predictors of suicide in persons aged 75 and above.

METHODS

Design of paper I-II

In 1971, the gerontological and geriatric population studies in Göteborg, Sweden – H70 – started [146,147] (figure 5). Göteborg is the second largest city in Sweden, situated on the western coast and has about half a million inhabitants. It is an important transportation centre for Northern Europe and has been characterized for decades by its harbour and industries. The population in 1901 was 132 111, with a surplus of women (72 328 women and 60 783 men). In 1971, the population was 448 792 (227 360 women and 221 432 men) [146].

A representative, systematic 3/10 sample of 70-year olds in Göteborg was obtained from the Revenue Office Register in 1971, giving a random sample. The population was people who were registered for census purposes in Göteborg on the date sampling, and who were born July 1st, 1901 – June 30th, 1902 on dates ending with 2, 5 or 8. The sampling was performed in four steps on different dates (to minimize the time between sampling and date of investigation): August 9th 1971 (for people born July 1st – Sept. 30th 1901), September 28th (for people born October 1st – December 31st 1901), December 6th (for people born January 1st – March 31st 1902) and March 10th 1902 (for people born April 1st – June 30th 1902).

An introductory letter was sent out to all persons in the sample. Within a week, a nurse took contact with them, and set up a date for a home visit to those who agreed to participate. Two registered nurses, who had been trained together in asking the questions in the questionnaire and evaluating answers of different types, performed the home visits. The home visit lasted for about 1,5 hours. The interview was based on a questionnaire, containing questions concerning e.g. basic personal data, dwelling conditions, economy, education, profession, need for care, consumption of health care and drugs. Later, an examination at the Outpatient Department at the Geriatric Hospital was performed. This examination included e.g. general and ophthalmologic examination, hearing ability, blood and urine sampling, ECG and X-ray of heart, lungs and breasts. Some examinations were only done on subsamples, such as psychological, psychiatric, dental, somatometric and audiometric examinations. The general medical examination included, besides the somatic examination, a questionnaire containing maximally 157 questions.

1148 persons were included in 1971/72. Of these, 973 (449 men, 524 women) had a full examination, giving a participation rate of 86.4% for men and 83.4% for women. In 1976/1977 a new cohort of 1281 70-year-old persons was invited. 83.6% of the men and 78.7% of the women participated (474 men, 562 women)



Figure 5. The gerontological and geriatric studies in Göteborg, Sweden, H70

(table 1). The non-participants did not significantly differ from the responders regarding sex, marital status and income [146].

All invited			Participants			Participation rate %			
Cohort	Men	Women	All	Men	Women	All	Men	Women	All
1 bess /	520	628	1148	449	524	973	86.4	83.4	84.8
2	567	714	1281	474	562	1036	83.6	78.7	80.9
3	365	441	806	302	317	619	82.7	71.9	76.8

Table 1.	Number	of 70-year	olds invited	and partic	inating in	the three cohorts
A HOAV A.	T I GHITTOOL	or i o jour	orab miritor	a mine partie	ipating in	the three conorto

From the third cohort (the IVEG study) [148], selected in 1981/82, we used two out of three subsamples, the intervention sample and the medical control sample, including 400 and 406 persons respectively. 82.7% of the men and 71.9% of the women participated (302 men, 317 women). The third subsample was a control group, not examined at age 70, for which only register-based data were available. Methods for data collection and instruments used were the same in the IVEG study as in the other cohorts. The intervention took place after the baseline study at age 70. Previous studies have shown that this cohort (the intervention sample and the medical control sample) is fully comparable to the earlier cohorts [147-150]. Separate analyses of mortality in the two samples of the IVEG study did not show any difference in mortality rate. Follow-up studies have shown that the intervention did not have any substantial effect on the variables used in this study [149,150]. Variables used in paper I and II are shown in table 2 and 3. Table 4 shows the variables in paper I as hazard ratios for 10-year follow-up mortality for the three cohorts together.

Statistical analyses

The survival in paper I was assessed using the Cox proportional-hazards model [151]. This makes it possible to compare the three cohorts despite different lengths of follow-up. Comparisons were made between the three cohorts and are presented as survival curves, and as relative risk estimates (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Time unit was survived days and the first-born cohort (cohort 1) was used as the reference group (RR=1). Sex has been controlled for when men and women were analysed together. In order to assess interaction between predictor variables and cohort effect, we modelled predictors and cohorts in the Cox regression models including interactions terms. Analyses on overall mortality were performed for all persons selected to the samples as well

as those who participated in the interview and clinical examination (participants).

In paper II, odds ratios (OR) for different health outcomes in the three cohorts were calculated with logistic regression. Also here the first-born cohort (cohort 1) was the reference group (OR=1). Analyses were performed on all participants in the three cohorts, as well as in subgroups based on marital status, level of education, type of dwelling, smoking habits and social network. The results are presented with 95% confidence intervals. Sex was controlled for when men and women were analysed together. In addition, significance test for trend was performed with Mantel Haenszel linear association chi-square.

		Paper I	Paper II
Social background	Marital status	Never married Married/cohabitant Divorced Widow/widower	Never married Married/cohabitant Divorced Widow/widower
	Type of dwelling	Non institution Institution ¹	Non institution Institution ¹
	Level of education	Elementary school > Elementary school	Elementary school > Elementary school
	Smoking habits	Never smoked Ex-smoker Current smoker	Never smoked Ex-smoker Current smoker
Social network	Contact with children	Sufficient Too little	
	Contact with neighbours	Sufficient	
		Too little	
	Contact with children/neighbours or friends		Too little
	Feeling lonely	Never/seldom Sometimes/often	
	Number of activities ²	0 1-2 3-6	Binnians, inc. Lage (1 m. dan)

Table 2. Variables in paper I and paper II measuring social background and social network

¹Including old peoples home, nursing home and hospital.

²Comprising reading more than one newspaper, reading a weekly paper every week, having a weekend cottage, traveling, attending church and driving a car.

Self-assessed health	Do you feel healthy Do you generally feel tired	Yes/No Yes/No	No
Number of symptoms			0 >5
Medically defined health	Number of chronic diseases	0	0
		1 ¹ 2-6 ¹	>4 ²
Functional impairment	Ability to walk/mobility impairment	Able to walk >10 meters without aid Yes/No	Not able to walk without assistive devices, personal aid or not able at all
	Impaired hearing		Not able to hear conversation from five meters
	Ability to rise from chair		Not able to rise from a chair without assistive devices, personal aid or not able at all
Thereiner	Nursing needs/need of care ³	Yes/No	Yes

Table 3. Variables measuring health in paper I and paper II

¹Including diabetes, chronic bronchitis, asthma, angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, diseases of the prostate, chronic rheumatic arthritis, cancer, fractures and stroke.

² Including diabetes, hypertension, goitre, chronic bronchitis, asthma, lung tuberculosis, rheumatic fever, angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, other heart disease, icterus, gall stones, gastric ulcer, appendicitis, kidney stones, urinary tract infections, diseases of the prostate, disorders of the female reproductive organs, chronic rheumatic arthritis, lumbago/slipped disc/sciatica, cancer, anaemia, stroke, TIA and surgery for inguinal hernia.

³Having at least one of the following problems: urin/feces incontinence, needing help with walking, eating, dressing, going to the toilet, personal hygiene or being disturbing.
confidence i	ntervais.		
		Men	Women
		Hazard ratio (CI)	Hazard ratio (CI)
Marital			
status	Married/cohabitant	1	1
	Unmarried	1.31 (0.98 - 1.75)	1.23 (0.90 - 1.68)
	Divorced	2.43(1.86 - 3.17)	0.94(0.60 - 1.47)
	Widower/widow	1.20 (0.92 - 1.58)	1.14(0.90 - 1.44)
T			
1 ype of	New institution		
dweining	Inon-institution	1 2.77 (1.04 2.06)	1
	Institution	2.77 (1.94 - 5.90)	5.64 (2.47 - 5.97)
Level of			
education	Elementary school	1	1
	> Elementary school	0.95 (0.78 - 1.17)	1.19 (0.88 - 1.60)
Smoking			
habite	Never smoked	1	1
naons	Ex-smoker	1 15(0.92 - 1.45)	1 09(0.75 - 1.60)
	Current smoker	1.15(0.92 - 1.49) 1.36(1.09 - 1.70)	1.09(0.73 - 1.00) 1.60(1.22 - 2.11)
	Current Smoker	1.50 (1.05 1.70)	1.00 (1.22 2.11)
Contact with			
children	Not relevant	1.28 (1.05 – 1.55)	1.05 (0.82 – 1.33)
	Sufficient	1	1
	Too little	1.37 (1.07 – 1.75)	0.91 (0.66 – 1.26)
Contact with			
neighbours	Not relevant	3.10 (2.05 - 4.68)	4.24 (2.71 - 6.62)
	Sufficient	1	1
	Too little	1.70 (1.28 - 2.26)	1.18 (0.85 - 1.64)
Fasting			
lonalu	Never/seldem		
ionery	Semetimes/offen	1 50 (1 24 2 04)	1 27 (0.07 1.66)
	Sometimes/onen	1.39 (1.24 - 2.04)	1.27 (0.97 - 1.00)
Activity			
index ²	0	2.34 (1.82 - 3.02)	2.27 (1.53 - 3.36)
	1-2	1.48 (1.24 – 1.78)	1.28 (1.02 - 1.61)
	3-6	1	1
Feeling			
healthy	Yes	1	1
	No	1.67(1.41 - 1.99)	1.66(1.34 - 2.05)
Feeling tired	No	1	
	Yes	1.88 (1.55 – 2.27)	1.69 (1.35 – 2.11)

Table 4. Predictors of mortality, hazard ratio for 10-year follow-up, for the whole sample (the three cohorts together). Shown as hazard ratio and 95% confidence intervals.

¹ including old peoples home, nursing home and hospital

² comprising reading more than one newspaper, reading a weekly paper every week, having a weekend cottage, travelling, attending church and driving a car

1 4010 4 001	intiliaca	a second second and the second second	and the second sec
		Men	Women
		Hazard ratio (CI)	Hazard ratio (CI)
Number of			
diseases ³	0	1	1
	1	1.09 (0.88-1.35)	1.36 (1.06-1.76)
	2-6	1.64 (1.33-2.02)	2.59 (1.98-3.38)
Mobility			
impairment ⁴	No	1	1
Parton ben	Yes	2.54 (1.85 - 3.50)	3.24 (2.34 - 4.50)
Need of			
care ⁵	No	1	1
	Yes	2.74 (1.98 - 3.82)	4.05 (2.90 - 5.66)

Table 4 continued

³ including diabetes, chronic bronchitis, asthma, angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, diseases of the prostate, chronic rheumatic arthritis, cancer, fractures and stroke

⁴ comprising urin/feces incontinence, ability to walk, eat, dress, go to the toilet, personal hygiene and if the person is disturbing

⁵ if the person is able to walk without help, needs a wheelchair or is bedridden

Design of paper III-V

The study [126,136] was conducted in western Sweden, and included the counties of Göteborg-Bohuslän and Älvsborg (65+ population 210 703 at the start of the study). The area includes several industrial cities, surrounded by farmland and forests.

Suicide cases (paper V)

Study cases were included from consecutive cases of suicide in elderly (65+) Scandinavian-born persons who underwent necropsy at the Göteborg Institute of Forensic Medicine from January 1994 to May 1996, and were classified as certain suicide (International Classification of Diseases (ICD 9) (E950-959) or undetermined cause of death (E980-989) by the forensic examiner. The forensic data and the police reports were reviewed by two psychiatrists (the first author of study V and a senior suicidologist), who then estimated the certainty of suicide. Cases that were rated as "certain suicide" (n=83) and "almost certain suicide" (n=17) were included, giving a total of 100 potential study cases.

Potential informants for 98 of the 100 suicides were identified. They were contacted by telephone and informed about the study. Informants of 85

individuals agreed to participate in an interview. 71 of the 85 study cases were certain suicides and fourteen were cases with undetermined cause of death, in which circumstances strongly suggested suicide.

Cases with informant interview (85/100) did not differ significantly from those without an interview in terms of sex ratio (males/females 1.18 vs. 1.14), mean age (75 vs. 73 years), proportion with a positive post-mortem screening for antidepressants or lithium (38% vs. 49%).

The old elderly subgroup (age 75 or above) included 20 men and 18 women (median age 81.5, range 75-97), and the young elderly subgroup included 26 men and 21 women (median age 70, range 65-74).

Population controls (paper III-V)

Two control persons were randomly chosen from the roster of the regional tax authorities for each case. The controls were selected from the same area, with the same sex and birth year (+/- 2 years) as the suicide case. If a control person declined to participate, another was invited to take part in the study (a maximum of eight persons were invited per case). A total of 240 potential control persons were invited to take part in the study. Six persons could not be traced. 60 declined participation due to lack of interest, 13 due to poor health and eight persons reported that they chose not to participate for social reasons. 10 control persons could not participate actively due to dementia, and interviews for these were instead carried out with a close informant. In all, 153 (64%) of the potential comparison subjects accepted participation. The interviews were carried out face-to-face, except for 6 control persons who only agreed to be interviews with the controls, the controls were somewhat older than the suicide cases.

Paper III included those who were interviewed face-to-face and who consented to the access to their medical records. Thus, the 10 proxy interviews were excluded, as was the 6 telephone interviews. Of the remaining 137, three persons had no relevant contact with health care, and four refused to release their medical records (two with and two without severe illness). These were not included, giving a total of 130 participants (75 men, 56 women) (figure 6). The median age was 76 years for both men (range 67-98) and women (range 67-99).

Paper IV included those interviewed face-to-face (n=137) and by telephone (n=6). Of the 137 who were interviewed face-to-face two were unable to answer the quality of life questions (due to language problems or inability to concentrate on the questions), giving a total number of 141 included in study IV (79 men, 62

Figure 6. The control group used in paper III and IV



Paper IV



women) (figure 6). The median age was 76 for both men (range 67-98) and women (range 67-99).

The interviews

A letter including detailed information about the study and time and place for the interview were sent out to informants of suicide victims who had agreed to an interview. The interview took usually place in the informant's home. In a few cases the informant preferred to be interviewed at his or her place of work or at the university hospital. Primary informants for eight cases declined face-to-face interview but participated in a telephone interview. All interviews were carried out by a psychiatrist (first author of paper V). The medium duration between the suicide and the interview was 7 months.

The interviews with the control group were performed during the period March 1998 to September 1999. The subjects received a letter with information about the study, and were later contacted by telephone. In order to reduce the risk of dropouts due to poor health, proxy interviews with close informants were carried out for 10 demented persons who were unable to participate in person. The interview usually took place in the subject's home, and was carried out by a geriatrician (KW), a psychiatric nurse or a psychiatric occupational therapist (CA), all with long clinical and interview experience.

A semi-structured questionnaire was used, which included questions about the subjects socio-demographic background, social life, life events, past and current mental and physical health, suicidal behaviour, use of alcohol and prescription drugs, and contacts with in- and outpatient services. It also included past month psychiatric signs and symptoms derived from the Comprehensive Psychiatric Rating Scale (CPRS) [152] and questions about dementia symptoms [153]. Life events were rated according to a revised version of the Recent Life Change Questionnaire [154], merged into 13 categories by Heikkinen and Lönnqvist [141]. One question on imprisonment was replaced by any criminal offence and three questions on job problems were replaced by one on retirement [139]. Somatic illness was a self-report item in this instrument (informant-reported for the suicide cases). Suicidal feelings were rated according to Paykel et al [155].

The participants in the control group were also interviewed about what they considered to be quality of life, asked as on open question "What is quality of life for you?". Then, they were asked to choose three items from a list on a show card: "I am going to mention different things that might influence the quality of life. Please choose the three things you consider most important:

- Physical health
- Mental health
- Cognitive function
- Having no pain
- To be able to do activities of daily living, such as cleaning, shopping, cooking
 - To be able to manage personal hygiene, dressing etc
 - To have contact with friends and relatives
- To be able to read
- To be able to hear well
- Participation in societies
- Not feeling lonely
 - Not feeling tired
 - Energy to do what you want to
 - To be able to feel engaged
- To feel needed
 - To be able to remain living in your home
 - Not to worry about your economy
 - Other things"

They were not asked to order them by priority. The list on the show card was prepared specifically for this study. It included a number of items often used in quality of life instruments [110,115], but was adapted based on experience of working with elderly people and processed after discussion in the research team.

138 persons answered the open-ended question, 77 men and 61 women. The answers were recorded by the interviewer. They were then categorized by two of the authors (KW, CA) after reading all answers. Each response was fragmented into statements that were classified in different categories, but each response could only contribute to the same category once. The categorization was reevaluated until the different categories were in accordance with the statements and all statements were categorized.

139 persons gave three responses as requested to the show card list, 77 men and 62 women. Two men, age 84 and 90, could not choose any item from the show card (one of them said that all were equally important). The single items were grouped into broader domains. If a respondent selected more than one item from the same domain, the answer was included only once.

Medical Record Review

For the suicide cases, records from psychiatric and primary care facilities in the individual's health care district were reviewed. Records from other specialists

and private psychiatrists were scrutinised when such contacts were recorded in the police report or primary care notes or when the interview person provided information concerning such contacts. The psychiatrist who had made the interview made this review. The controls were asked about previous health care contacts. Medical records were requested on the basis of this information, after the subjects had given their informed consent. A physician (ER) who was blind to interview data reviewed these records. Records from other clinics were requested whenever such contact was indicated in the review. Three control persons had no relevant contact with health care and four refused to release their medical records (two with and two without severe illness). For these seven controls, the illness ratings were based solely on self-report.

Assessment of psychiatric illness

The psychiatrist who made the interviews of the suicide informants and the record review of the suicide cases, made retrospective Axis I diagnoses according to the diagnostic algorithms of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) [156] for both the suicide and the control group. Cases with symptoms constellations that did not fit the DSM-IV algorithms were given "best estimate" diagnoses after discussion with a senior psychiatrist. For the suicide cases, a symptom was rated as present during the last month of life if acknowledged by any source. The interview and the case records provided the basis for assessment of past month mental symptoms for the control persons. A conservative approach was used to the assignment of major depression, that is, somatic symptoms that could be attributed to concomitant physical illness were not counted as symptoms of depression. A non-demented person who experienced a first depressive episode in connection with stroke or other neurological disorder was considered to have depression due to a medical condition. A person fulfilling at least two but less than five of the A criteria for major depression was considered to have minor depression, which is in accordance with DSM-IV research criteria. Further details of the diagnostic procedure have been reported previously [136].

Assessment of physical illness

Illness burden ratings were made according to the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G) [157]. This rating scale is a modification of the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale (CIRS) [158] revised to reflect problems common in the elderly with an emphasis on morbidity using specific examples. It provides operationalized ratings of disability in 13 somatic organ systems plus psychiatric disorders: heart, vascular, haematopoietic, respiratory, eyes/ears/ nose/throat/larynx, upper GI (gastrointestinal), lower GI, liver, renal, genitourinary, musculoskeletal/integument, neurological, endocrine/metabolic/breast and psychiatric illness. The scale ranges from 0 to 4. A rating of 0 indicates no problem; 1- current mild problem or past significant problem; 2 - moderate disability or morbidity/ requires "first line" therapy; 3 – severe/constant significant disability/ "uncontrollable" chronic problems; 4 – extremely severe/ immediate treatment required/end organ failure/severe impairment in function. Smoking status and body mass index were not included in the present study. CIRS and CIRS-G have been shown to have good interrater reliability and face validity and to have a broad applicability to research in geriatrics [157,159,160]. We used the manual of guidelines for scoring the CIRS-G from May 1991 by Miller (in English). The interview included questions covering the 14 organ-systems from the CIRS-G.

For paper III, the illness burden for the control persons was rated in three ways: 1. Ratings based on interview data. The interviewers made these ratings at the time of the interview.

2. Ratings based on data from medical records review.

3. Consensus ratings based on information from both interviews and record reviews, used as golden standard in study III.

The rating from the three data sources for each organ systems are shown in figure 7. For most organ systems all ratings has given a 0 for almost half of the respondents or more, with the exception of musculoskeletal/integument and eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx. Few have been given a 3, and even fewer a 4.

For paper IV and V, the consensus ratings were utilised as assessment of physical illness.

Consensus rating

The consensus ratings were made on information from both interviews and record reviews. They were made by the record reviewer (ER) after the record ratings were completed. The two scores were compared and they were accepted as consensus rating if they were in accordance. If they differed, information from the interview was compared to the information from the records. In most cases, the higher score were used, due to lack of information from the source scoring lower. In some cases, however, the lower score was used, such as when the interview revealed that the respondent no longer took the prescribed medication or when the records showed that the respondent had misunderstood why the drug had been prescribed. If there were any doubt as to which score to use, the question was discussed between the medical record reviewer and the interviewer until consensus was reached.

Figure 7. The illness burden ratings for the different organ systems. C=consensus, MR=medical records, I=interview. 0=no problem, 1=current mild problem/past significant problem, 2=moderate problem, 3=severe problem, 4=extremely severe problem



Statistical analyses of paper III

Tests were made on the agreement between data derived from the three modes of rating: interviews versus medical records, interviews versus consensus, and medical records versus consensus. The measurements used were Kappa coefficient [161] and the Svensson Paired Rank Measurement [162,163]. The Kappa coefficient [161] is one of the standard methods for analysing agreement. but one of its weaknesses is that it requires identical marginal distributions. The Svensson Paired Rank Measurement [162,163] is used to estimate the systematic and random differences in ordinal rating scales and does not require identical marginal distributions. Further information of the Svensson Method is given in paper III. The two measures used in paper III were the Augmented Rank-Order Agreement Coefficient (RA), which measures random differences in classification, and Relative Position (RA), which measures whether the classifications differ in position in the ratings, i.e. if one rater or one data source systematically tends to rate higher or lower than the other. RP were calculated with 95% confidence intervals. In addition, a permutation test was used to test the hypothesis that ratings from the interviews and medical records had the same agreement when compared to the consensus rating (as measured by the Kappa coefficient). Information of the permutation test is documented in the appendix in paper III.

Statistical analyses of paper IV

The results were calculated for men and women separately, since men were over-represented compared to the general older population. The results are presented as proportions, to increase the comparability across subgroups, and they are presented with 95% confidence intervals. Statistical testing of differences between subgroups yielded no more significant results than mere chance due to small sample size, and they are not presented.

Statistical analyses of paper V

Odds ratios (OR) for suicide were calculated with logistic regression. Adjustments for age were made in all analyses of OR, since the controls were slightly older than the suicides due to a lag time between the suicide deaths and the control interviews. Fisher's exact test was used to analyse differences in proportions between subgroups when ORs could not be calculated. The variables included in the multivariate logistic analysis (forward, conditional) were age, sex, loneliness, home care assistance, interpersonal conflict, operationally defined physical illness and major depression. All exploratory and formal statistical analyses were performed with SPSS version 10.1 for Windows.

Ethics

The Ethics Committee for Medical Research at Göteborg University approved the study. The participants had given their informed consent, after they had received oral and written information about the study, including an assurance that they could withdraw from the study at any time. For persons suffering from dementia, a close relative gave consent by proxy.

RESULTS

Paper I

Cohort 2 and 3 had significantly decreased mortality compared to cohort 1 (RR 0.86; CI 0.78-0.95 and RR 0.88; CI 0.78-0.995 respectively). There were no differences between cohort 2 and 3. Women had lower mortality than men in all cohorts.

People not living in an institution had a decreased mortality in the later born cohorts compared to the first born, while persons living in an institution had about the same mortality in all three cohorts. Other subgroups that had a lower mortality in the later born cohorts were ex-smokers and those who never had smoked, men reporting too little contact with their children, people reporting never or seldom feeling lonely, not feeling tired, having one or more diseases, and people without nursing needs and mobility impairment. There was no difference in the development of mortality by marital status or educational level.

There were significant interaction effects between cohort 1 and 2 and having more than one disease and having need of care. Significant interaction effects were also found between cohorts 1 and 3 and living in an institution, being exsmoker and current smoker, and reporting feeling tired. Among men there were also interactions between the first-born cohort and both the later born cohorts and reporting too little contact with the children.

Paper II

There were fewer 70-year olds not feeling healthy in the two later born cohorts (OR 0.68; CI 0.56-0.83 and OR 0.67; CI 0.53-0.84 respectively) and fewer with many symptoms. There were also more participants in the later born cohorts who had no symptoms, and fewer men having impaired hearing. Women had problems rising from a chair to a lower extent in the later born cohorts. Both men and women had almost half the odds ratio for having nursing needs in cohort 2 compared to cohort 1, but women had the most pronounced decline. There were fewer men in cohort 3 having no diseases.

There were fewer current smokers having no diseases in cohort 3, more not being able to rise from a chair easily and not being able to walk without assistive devices. The current smokers did not have as low OR for nursing needs in cohort 2 as those who had never smoked or were ex-smokers. Regarding marital status, the divorced had a different development. They had an increase in nursing needs and they were the only subgroup where having many symptoms was more common in the later born cohorts compared to the firstborn. On the other hand, they were more likely to report having no symptoms in the later born cohorts. However, those divorced were rather few, giving few statistically significant differences.

Most variables did not differ substantially by level of education. Having more than four diseases was more common for the low educated in the later born cohorts compared to cohort 1, as was not being able to walk without assistive devices, while those with more than elementary school had a lower OR. As to impaired hearing those with low education had an improvement in the later born cohorts, with a statistically significant trend.

Those 70-year olds who reported having too little contact with children, neighbours and/or friends had somewhat lower OR for having more than five symptoms in the later born cohorts than those with sufficient contact. They had also a lower OR regarding impaired hearing and nursing needs. Persons with sufficient contact had an improvement regarding having no symptoms in the later born cohorts.

One subgroup had not gained as much as the others ones, namely those living in an institution. They were about as likely to feel healthy in all cohorts, and they did not have the same improvement regarding having no symptoms as those not living in an institution. They had also a significantly higher OR for nursing needs in cohort 2 compared to cohort 1 (data not available for cohort 3).

Paper III

Medical records rated higher (positive Relative Position, RP) than the interviews for the vascular system, whereas the interviews rated higher (negative RP) for five organ systems: respiratory, eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx, upper GI, liver and musculoskeletal/integument. The Augmented Rank-Order Agreement Coefficient (RA) showed low random difference between interview and medical records. The agreement measured as the Kappa coefficient ranged from 0.47 to 0.80, with the lowest agreement for the eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx and lower GI systems, and the highest for endocrine/metabolic/breast category.

Low random difference was found for both interviews versus consensus and medical records versus consensus. Statistically significant systematic difference in position (RP) between interviews versus consensus was found for four organ systems, three of them remarkably higher than others (above 0.1): vascular, lower GI and genitourinary. For medical records versus consensus, a statistically significant systematic difference in position (RP) was found for 11 organ systems, three of them at or above 0.1: eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx, lower GI and muculoskeletal/integument.

Statistically significant difference in agreement was found between interview versus consensus and medical records versus consensus for the vascular system (medical records best), eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx and musculoskeletal/ integument (interview best).

Paper IV

Answers to the open-ended question were grouped into 8 categories, with social relations being the most frequent response, followed by health, activities, functional ability, well-being, personal beliefs and attitudes, the own home and personal economy. Functional ability was the domain most selected from the show card of both men and women, followed by, for the men: physical health, to be able to remain living in one's home, social relations and mental health by the men; and for women: social relations, physical health, the own home and mental health. Women selected functional ability and social relations to a higher degree than men, while men selected physical health to a higher degree. Those age 80 or older selected functional ability to a higher extent than their younger counterparts. Persons with a severe illness selected social relations and having no pain to a higher degree than those without severe illness.

Paper V

Family conflict, serious physical illness, loneliness and major and minor depression were associated with increased risk of suicide in the 75+ group. Economic problems predicted suicide in the younger but not in the older elderly, while serious physical illness was not a statistically significant predictor of suicide in the younger group. Serious illness in the eyes, ears, nose and throat category was over-represented in the older suicide group. Visual disability was the most common cause of infirmity in this group, and was therefore analysed separately. Seriously impaired vision was associated with an eight-fold increase in suicide risk for the older group, an association that could not be shown for the younger group. Malignant disease was associated with a three-fold risk of suicide for those aged 75 and above. Old elderly suicides with depression (major or minor) were less likely to have received depression treatment than their younger counterparts (75.9% vs. 48.0%). The logistic regression models showed that major depression, serious physical illness, family conflict and loneliness were independent predictors for the older elderly, but the significance of loneliness was marginal.

DISCUSSION

Strengths and limitations

H70 (paper I and II)

The gerontological and geriatric population studies in Göteborg (H70) is one of few population based longitudinal studies with different birth cohorts followed for long enough time to do time and trend analysis of mortality and morbidity. As almost all other studies, it has experienced declining participation rate in the later born cohorts, but still it is as good, or better, than that of many other studies for the same age groups and for the same time studied [164,165]. The H70 project is a true random sample of the elderly population, since it also includes the institutionalised persons. Those living in institutions are among the most disabled persons, and it is important to include elderly living in institutions when assessing changes over time [76]. All participants were 70 years old at base line, which enables us to rule out any age-effects. On the other hand, 70 years can be seen too young an age, since the sharp decrease in functioning has been seen for those aged 80 and older [166]. Using a higher age, might have improved our ability to detect changes between the cohorts. We have used data collection from 1971, 1976 and 1981, which can seem to be quite far in the past. On the other hand, it yields long follow up, which makes it possible to analyse the mortality in the same cohorts. Thus, the use of data from 20 - 30 years back can be seen as both a strength and a limitation. The cohorts are born only five and ten years apart. With no doubt, this is a limitation, influencing our possibilities to find significant changes, as do the fact that we have only used 3 cohorts. The variables used have had exact the same wording in the interview for all three cohorts, which make the comparison between the cohorts valid. The variables we have chosen to measure morbidity were to a large extent self-reported. Selfreported data from interviews with elderly people yield sound information on health status, especially of illness, functional impairment and health in a broader sense, as was shown in paper III.

We have used many variables to measure morbidity and to classify subgroups. Therefore, there is an obvious risk of mass significance. Adjustment for multiple analyses was considered, but many authors do not advocate such methods [167,168], so we have refrained from doing so. The variables were carefully selected from a large set of variables in the H70 project, so there is a specific thought behind each of the variables included. The use of many variables to measure morbidity can also be seen as a strength, since health and morbidity have many aspects and cannot be measured by a single variable [101].

The suicide project (paper III-V)

The main strengths of the suicide project was the fact that we included all suicide cases in the area and a matched control group selected from the general population, allowing us to estimate the risk associated with a number of different predictor variables. However, the suicide cases were interviewed by proxy, while most of the control persons were interviewed in person. This asymmetry in data sources is a limitation [169], even if recent research speaks for the validity of the proxy approach [170,171]. The participation rate for the control group was not high (64%), but was similar to that in other studies of older persons [164,165]. In addition, there is a problem of small sample sizes for the 75+ group in paper V and for subgroups in paper IV. The use of operationalised criteria to rate mental and physical disability is a strength, as is the inclusion of almost certain suicides and the inclusion of both rural and urban areas. Sweden is an appropriate setting for this type of research. The rate of forensic examination is high and medical records are relatively accessible. We were able to locate psychiatric records dating back as early as 1918.

The use of a consensus based on information from interviews and medical records as "gold standard" might lead to a circular comparison when the original data sources are compared to consensus. However, the consensus uses the combined information from the two single sources, and enables an evaluation of the quality of data from interviews and medical records.

A limitation in paper IV is the sample used. It is not totally representative of the older population since men are over-represented in the study group. However, results are shown separately for men and women, and the subsamples distributed by sex can be seen as representative of elderly men and elderly women, respectively.

Cohort differences in health

Mortality

There was a significant decrease in mortality between the first-born cohort and the two later born cohorts, but no difference between the later born cohorts. The fact that there were no difference in mortality between the two later born cohorts could indicate that the increase in longevity is levelling of and reaching a plateau. On the other hand, there are other possible explanations. As mentioned under strengths and limitations, there are only three cohorts analysed, and they are born five and ten years apart, which limits the possibility to detect a difference. But the difference is between the two first-born cohorts, which speaks against too few years between the birth years as the explanation.

The mortality data are only followed up until 1998, in which the latest born cohort only had reached the age of 86. Other studies have shown that the decrease in mortality during the last decades has been substantial for the old and oldest-old, and in many cases just as great as for the younger [4,5,7,8,172,173], although there has been a report of lack of improvement of life expectancy at advanced ages in the Netherlands in the 1980s [174]. If the decline in mortality is greatest for the ages above 80 or 85, it might need five or ten years more of follow-up to detect the decline for the latest born cohort. One other important explanation could be different cohort and period effects. These might have been considerable, due to the rapid development during the 20th century. The latest born cohort was born 1911/12, only a few years before the beginning of World War I. This could have led to differences in the life situation during their early childhood years, even if Sweden was not involved in the war. During the war there was also the epidemic of the Spanish flu. In addition, they were entering the labour market during the economic depression. It may bee speculated that such major life events occurring at critical points in life may explain why we did not find any difference in mortality between the two later born cohorts.

The decrease in mortality in the later born cohorts was not evenly distributed across subgroups. Those with diseases had lower mortality in the later born cohorts compared to the first-born. This might speak for more years with diseases and an expansion of morbidity. However, having a disease does not necessarily mean ill health. Getting a diagnosis enables you to get treatment, and by that feeling better. The fact that those who reported feeling healthy and not feeling tired did have a lower mortality in the later born cohorts – as had those without need of care and mobility impairment and those not living in an institution - indicates that there are years of good health, but for some in spite of diseases, that has been added.

Smoking is a well-known predictor of mortality [31,175,176]. There was a significant decrease in mortality for those who had never smoked in the younger cohorts compared to the oldest, while current smokers had about the same mortality in all three cohorts, especially for men. Thus, the gain in survival is restricted to non-smokers, which indicates that the decrease in mortality is influenced by lifestyle factors. Another predictor of mortality is social network [31,33]. It is hard to interpret the finding that men in the later born cohorts reporting too little contact with their children had lower mortality compared to the first-born cohort. Is it due to more people wanting to have more contact with their children and a better health among them, or is it due to an alteration in the

effect of social network on mortality? This is not possible to answer from these results.

Morbidity

Comparing the mortality development with the morbidity at age 70 in the different cohorts gives us further indications of good years being added. Just as for the mortality, the differences in morbidity were mainly between the two first-born cohorts. The explanations for this are probably similar to that of the mortality, as discussed above. During the last decades, there has been several hypothesis of how childhood and young adult life – and even in utero - circumstances influence the late life morbidity [177-181]. Giving the huge changes during the 20th century, it is likely that the three cohorts have experienced different impact at different ages in their early life, which might explain why the latest born cohort does not differ substantially in morbidity and mortality from cohort 2.

Self-assessed health

The improvement concerning self-assessed health was somewhat greater than for the mortality (OR 0.68 and 0.67, compared to RR 0.86 and 0.88), speaking for a compression of morbidity. The improvement in self-assessed health between the cohorts is in accordance with some studies [54,56] and contrary to others [57-59]. The later born cohorts had also an improvement regarding self-reported symptoms. There were more 70-year olds reporting no symptoms in the later born cohorts compared to the first-born and fewer reporting many symptoms. Also for having many symptoms there was an improvement greater than the mortality decline (OR 0.73 and 0.80 compared to RR 0.86 and 0.88).

Diseases

The participants in the later born cohorts were more likely to have got a diagnosis, and those with multiple diagnoses were about as many in all three cohorts. But as discussed above, getting a diagnosis is not equal to perceive ill health if you get an effective treatment. The improved ability nowadays for the health care to detect diseases, gives us more people with diagnoses [182], but hopefully less people with ill health. The results from paper II, with more 70-year olds with diseases in the later born cohorts, but fewer with symptoms, speaks for an effective treatment of the diseases and enhancement of health status in spite of diseases.

Functional impairment/disability

The improvements in physical function differed by measurement. The ability to walk without assistive devices was about the same in all three cohorts, while there was a decreased mortality in the later born cohorts for those without mobility impairments. However, this was an estimate of the walking ability without using assistive devices. With improvements in the devices, the ability to walk is enhanced for those with walking impairments. Thus, it seems likely that those with mobility impairments in the later born cohorts might have better walking ability with assistive devices, compared to the first-born cohort [183]. 70-year olds reporting not being able to rise from a chair easily were fewer in the later born cohorts, as were those with impaired hearing ability. The improvement concerning nursing needs was greater than the decline in mortality (OR 0.58 compared to RR 0.86). Taken these measurements of functional impairment together, it seems as good years have been added - especially as the elderly people value functional ability as important to their quality of life, as was shown in paper IV. The decline in disability is in accordance with most of the recent studies that has compared disability in different cohorts [50,64-66,68-72,74,75].

The results from paper II, with lower functional impairments but more 70-year olds having a diagnosis in later born cohorts is in accordance with other studies showing that improvements in function have occurred despite increased reports of chronic conditions [81,184]. It is also in accordance with the summation of recent reports by Crimmins: the number of diseases people have and the number of people with major and multiple diseases have increased in the older population, while the disability connected to the diseases has generally decreased and the proportions of people with only moderate disability appear to be declining slightly [185]. Grundy reported that the extent of self-reported limiting long-term illness has risen, but there are signs that the extent of serious disability has fallen [186]. Van de Water states that trend studies of health expectancies suggest that, although the total amount of morbidity is increasing with ageing, there is a shift towards less severe disability, which supports the "dynamic equilibrium" theory [44]. Freedman and Martin concludes that earlier diagnosis and improved treatment and management of chronic conditions may be important contributing factors to improvements in upper- and lower-body functioning among older Americans [184]. The decline in disability is particularly encouraging since disability is associated with suicidal thoughts among elderly [128]. It might be speculated that we would have seen greater declines in functional impairment if we had used older participants, for example 80 years of age instead of 70. Freedman and Martin found the largest gains for those aged 80 and older [187].

Why has there been a decrease in disability? The decrease is still largely unexplained [76]. There are, however, some reasons that have been discussed. Among those are improved technology and medical care [67]. Cataract surgery and joint replacement are examples of improved technology that has benefited elderly persons, and reduced the impairments in sight and mobility, which are common in older ages and non-fatal. New pharmaceutical drugs, for example non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs diminishing the symptoms of arthritis and anti-hypertension medication giving declining stroke incidence - both common in old age - reduces the disability. The use of and improvements in assistive devices are also seen as contributing to decrease in disability, despite functional impairment. Changes in socioeconomic status are also related to the decrease in disability. There has been a shift from manual to white-collar jobs, and the educational level is higher in later born cohorts, both contributing to lower disability through less hazardous exposure at work and more favorable health behavior [67,82]. Waidmann and Liu found that the trend toward a more educated elderly cohort explained some, but not the entire decline in disability among elderly persons [188]. Even if we could not find any difference in the development in morbidity by level of education in paper II, there was a difference in the proportion of subjects reporting different health status in favor for those with higher education (Table 5). Thus, more people with higher education give better health status on the population level. The most obvious change in health behavior is the decline in smoking. This was seen for men, but not for women, in the H70 study [63]. Smoking affecting mortality and morbidity is in accordance with the findings in paper I and II, where nonsmokers had a more favorable development than the current smokers. The decline in infectious diseases throughout the lifespan can also give less late-life disability, for example rheumatic fever leading to valvular heart problems at old age [67,82]. It seems reasonable that further increases in health can be achieved with changes in lifestyle factors such as decreased smoking, and with further development in medical treatment and care, including better recognition of depressions in elderly people.

Gender and health development

As with the mortality, the improvements in morbidity were not evenly distributed among subgroups. Women seem to have a better development between the cohorts concerning morbidity than men. Women in the later born cohorts had decreased risk of not being able to rise from a chair easily compared to cohort 1, and had also a greater decline in nursing needs than men. There were also some gender differences in women's favour, concerning symptoms and diseases, which is in accordance with the study from Jyväskylä, Finland [56]. As the mortality development was about the same for both genders, it seems as women have gained more healthy years than men. Winblad et al and Hoeymans et al could not find any decrease in disability in later-born cohorts for men [60,77]. Also other studies have found greater improvements for women and a decreasing gender difference [56,66,69,73]. Elderly women are known to have greater morbidity than men [66,189-192], so this indicates that the gender gap concerning morbidity is decreasing. The decreasing gender gap for some of the variables in paper II can be seen in table 6, where the results are presented as proportions of men and women in the three cohorts reporting different health indicators. The female excess in disability has been attributed to their longer

		Cohort		
		1	2	3
		%	%	%
Not feeling	ACLASSING STATISTICS		Con the	attive
healthy	Elementary	35.1	27.8	26.8
	More than elementary	30.9	21.3	21.9
More than five				
symptoms	Elementary	28.3	23.3	24.2
	More than elementary	23.0	15.2	19.7
No symptoms	Elementary	9.3	10.9	17.2
	More than elementary	11.8	15.7	16.4
More than four				
diseases	Elementary	20.4	21.9	23.1
	More than elementary	30.9	22.5	27.0
No diseases	Elementary	7.0	5.9	5.0
	More than elementary	5.9	6.2	3.9
Impaired hearing	Elementary	8.1	6.5	4.3
	More than elementary	2.0	3.4	2.8
Not able to rise				
from chair easily	Elementary	9.6	6.4	9.7
	More than elementary	6.6	3.9	4.8
Not able to walk				
without assistive	Elementary	8.0	8.3	10.6
devices	More than elementary	7.2	2.8	6.8
Nursing needs ¹	Elementary	7.5	3.7	
	More than elementary	3.9	2.8	

Table 5. Distribution (percentage) of participants reporting different health indicators in the three cohorts, by level of education.

¹Having at least one of the following problems: urinary/fecal incontinence, needing help with walking, eating, dressing, going to the toilet, personal hygiene or being disturbing

survival [166] and lower recovery rate [193], and that women are more likely to suffer from arthritis and other musculo-skeletal diseases [190,194-196]. Thus, women might have benefited more than men by the improvements in assitive devices and new pharmaceutical drugs, diminishing the symptoms and disability of arthritis. It is unlikely that the decreasing gender gap could be attributed to changes in smoking, since there were more women smoking in the later born cohorts [63].

		<u>Cohort</u>		
		1 %	2 %	3 %
Not feeling healthy	Men	32.9	21.0	26.4
	Women	35.8	31.1	25.5
More than five				
symptoms	Men	21.2	14.6	17.5
	Women	32.8	27.8	28.4
No symptoms	Men	15.4	14.9	23.9
	Women	5.0	9.3	10.4
More than four				
diseases	Men	15.9	15.1	20.9
	Women	27.1	27.4	27.1
No diseases	Men	9.8	7.6	5.6
	Women	4.6	4.3	4.4
Impaired hearing	Men	11.2	8.3	6.6
	Women	3.5	4.4	2.0
Not able to rise				
from chair easily	Men	5.6	6.1	7.4
	Women	12.9	5.9	9.3
Not able to walk				
without assistive	Men	6.5	8.1	9.8
devices	Women	9.8	7.0	9.6
Nursing needs ¹	Men	6.0	4.9	
a provinsi se a se	Women	8.6	4.1	

Table 6. Distribution (percentage) of participants reporting different health indicators in the three cohorts, by gender.

¹Having at least one of the following problems: urinary/fecal incontinence, needing help with walking, eating, dressing, going to the toilet, personal hygiene or being disturbing

Need of institutional care and health development

More 70-year olds living in an institution in the later born cohorts had functional impairments compared to the first-born cohort, especially regarding hearing

impairment and nursing needs. In addition, they had less improvement in selfassessed health than those living in their own home. Since the mortality was about the same in all three cohorts for those living in an institution, it seems as if it is an expansion of morbidity for those living in institutions. The interpretation of the analyses of the institutionalised must, however, be done with caution. It was rather few of the 70-year olds living in an institution (around 3% in all three cohorts), and we do not know how their health status was when the moved into the institution. Probably there has been a shift towards a worse health status among those taken into institutions. The fact that those living in an institution had worse health in later born cohorts, points out the importance of including the institutionalised when comparing morbidity between different birth cohorts.

Social network and health development

Social network is known to influence both mortality and morbidity [31,33,197-199]. The participants reporting too little contact with their children, neighbours and/or friends had improved self-assessed health in the later born cohorts, fewer hearing impairments and fewer nursing needs, while those with sufficient contact had an improvement when health was measured as having no symptoms. The decrease in mortality was most pronounced for men reporting too little contact with their children. The proportion of 70-years olds reporting too little contact was higher in the later born cohorts. 12% of the women in cohort 1 reported too little contact with their children compared to 17% in cohort 3, for men the corresponding figures were 9% and 16%. For the combined variable too little contact with children, neighbours and/or friends, the proportion increased from 22% to 25% for women and from 16% to 22% for men (results not shown). As can be seen in table 7, there was a difference for most of the health indicators in paper II in favour of those reporting sufficient/too much contact compared to those reporting too little in cohort 1, but the difference is much smaller in cohort 3. Whether the differences in mortality and morbidity between the cohorts for the group reporting too little contact is due to a modification in the role of social network as a risk indicator for ill health and mortality, or if it is due to a shift in the wish to see the children, neighbours and friends more often because people feel healthier, is not possible to assess from our results.

Smoking and health development

The current smokers in the later born cohorts had not had the same positive development in heath status as the non-smokers. There were fewer current smokers with no diseases, more not being able to rise from a chair easily and not being able to walk without assistive devices in the later born cohorts. They had neither the same decrease in nursing need as the non-smokers nor the same increase in having no symptoms. The results from paper I and II indicates that

		Cohort		
		1	2	3
		%	%	%
Not feeling		- A TRUE		
healthy	Sufficient/too much	32.0	24.4	26.3
	Too little	45.1	34.6	24.8
More than five				
symptoms	Sufficient/too much	24.2	21.2	22.2
	Too little	41.3	23.8	26.0
No symptoms	Sufficient/too much	10.4	13.5	18.2
	Too little	7.1	4.9	13.0
More than four				
diseases	Sufficient/too much	20.8	20.4	23.5
	Too little	26.6	27.2	26.0
No diseases	Sufficient/too much	7.1	5.7	4.7
	Too little	6.5	6.3	6.2
Impaired hearing	Sufficient/too much	6.4	6.3	4.2
1	Too little	9.8	5.5	4.3
Not able to rise				
from chair easily	Sufficient/too much	9.4	5.7	8.6
	Too little	9.9	7.3	7.5
Not able to walk				
without assistive	Sufficient/too much	7.8	7.0	9.7
devices	Too little	10.4	9.3	9.6
Nursing needs ¹	Sufficient/too much	6.9	4.6	
	Too little	9.8	3.9	

 Table 7. Distribution (percentage) of participants reporting different health

 indicators in the three cohorts, by social network.

¹Having at least one of the following problems: urinary/fecal incontinence, needing help with walking, eating, dressing, going to the toilet, personal hygiene or being disturbing

further gains in both longevity and health status is probable if positive changes in lifestyle behaviour occur, which is in accordance with the findings from other longitudinal studies of aging showing strong associations between lifestyle risk factors and the incidence of disability [42,47,200-207] and Leveille et al who found that physical activity was a key factor predicting non-disability before death [175]. Nusselder et al conclude that eliminating smoking will extend life, increase the numbers of years lived without disability and also compress disability into a shorter period [176]. The greatest future declines in disability may result from reductions in lifestyle risk factors [76].

Education and health development

Education, as a measure of socioeconomic status [85], is known to influence both mortality and morbidity [45,84,208-212]. As can be seen in table 5, there was a difference in the health indicators in the three cohorts by level of education, with those with higher education having better health status than those with only elementary school, with the exception of having many diseases. There were no clear differences between the cohorts by educational level for neither mortality nor morbidity. There was an improvement in younger cohorts in low as well as high educated for self-assessed health and number of symptoms, while those with lower education had an improvement in younger cohorts regarding hearing ability (which might be due to decreased exposure to noisy work environment). Thus, from our results it is not possible to determine whether there is a narrowing or widening gap by level of education. Crimmins and Saito found that educational differences in healthy life expectancy increased between 1970 and 1990 in the US [213]. Pappas et al found a reduction in mortality for all educational levels between 1960 and 1986 for ages 25-64 in the US, but an increasing disparity in mortality by level of education [214], while Martelin could not find any convergence of mortality levels according to sociodemographic factors 1970-1990 in Finland [36]. In another study from Sweden, they could not find any change over time in the discrepancy in mobility limitation between white- and blue-collar workers [66], and the Finnish study from Jyväskylä found that the difference between social groups had not diminished between 1972 and 1992 [56]. In their review article, Freedman et al conclude that trends in disability and function by education level have been inconsistent [73]. However, since later-born cohorts have better education, for example a rise in the proportion of participants in H70 having more than elementary school from 13% of the women and 18% of the men in cohort 1 to 21% and 28%, respectively, in cohort 3 (results not shown), it is probable that the decrease in morbidity can partly be due to higher education in later born cohorts [67,82], and future expected increases in ill-health due to the aging of the population might be counteracted by increase in educational level [215].

Information on health status

The results from paper III indicate that both interviews and medical records generate sound and reliable data for most organ systems. The interviews yielded better information for the eyes/ears/nose/throat/larynx and musculoskeletal/

integument categories than medical records. These organ systems reflect to a high degree functional impairments such as impaired sight and hearing, and stiff or painful joints and muscles. Conditions that can be seen as aging related for which elderly persons do not always seek medical care for, they are endured or treated with over-the-counter drugs. Thus, medical records often lack information on functional impairments. It is in accordance with the findings of Ockander et al, who found that diseases of the nervous system, the sensory organs and the musculoskeletal system was reported more often at interview than in medical records [216]. This indicates that interviews might be superior to medical records when measuring impairments and disability among elderly people. On the other hand, medical records gave better information for the vascular system, a category including circulatory conditions that are known to provide definitional problems for respondents [94]. This is in accordance with Nilsson et al, who conclude that medical records provide valid information for factual diseases, while self-reports are more informative than medical records for illness with predominantly subjective symptoms [217]. Ferraro and Su have shown that self-reports of chronic non-serious illness had greater predictive value for subsequent disability than physician-evaluated morbidity [218].

The results from paper III confirms that interviews with elderly persons can yield reliable data, which is in accordance with other studies [216,219-221] while other have shown less accurate self-reports by elderly respondents [96,98]. Many studies analysing trends in morbidity and disability in the elderly population over time use to a high degree self-reported data, as we do in paper II. According to the results from paper III, this is an appropriate approach since self-reported data were shown to be reliable, especially concerning functional impairments. It is important to capture functional impairments when assessing health, since disability and visual problems have been shown to be associated with suicidal thoughts [128]. If the intention is to measure illness, functional impairments and health in a broader sense, interview is a good method, while medical records may be more appropriate when specific diagnoses are the subject of inquiry.

Quality of life and health

Older men and women value social relations, health, activities and functional ability to be important to the quality of life, as could be shown in paper IV. This is in accordance with the few earlier studies that have asked elderly people about their perceptions of quality of life [120-122]. In the light of this, it is promising that there are several reports of declining disability in later born cohorts, something that also was found in paper II. Rather few participants mentioned or chose material circumstances like economics and housing conditions, which also was found in the Swedish study by Nilsson et al [120]. The importance of

activities and functional abilities is in accordance with Bryant et al's model of healthy aging that includes the ability to "go and do" meaningful activity [222]. It also stresses the importance of the health care to enhance people's ability, even when it is not possible to give a curative treatment. Farquhar states that it appears that family relationships, social contacts and activities are as valued components of a good quality of life for older people as general health and functional status, but social contacts and activities are to a certain extent dependent on a reasonable state of health and functioning [107].

Women selected functional ability and social relations to a higher extent than men, which is in accordance with the results of Bowling [121]. This can be seen as part of women's greater responsibility for the household and social networks. It is also worth noting that women in the later born cohorts had a more pronounced decrease in disability compared to the first-born cohort in paper II, and there were more 70-year olds reporting too little contact with their children, neighbours and/or friends in the later born cohorts, especially for men. As argued above, one explanation could be that the expectations of social contacts increases with improved health. Those aged 80 and over selected functional ability and remain living in one's home to higher extent than their younger counterparts, which indicates that the importance of enhancing the functional ability of older people increases with age. In the study by Farquhar, those above 85 years of age answered to be more mobile/able more than twice as often than those aged 65-85 years, when asked about what would improve their quality of life [122].

Remain living in one's own home was chosen from the show card list by 42-44% of the participants, but seldom mentioned in the responses to the open question. Perhaps moving to a sheltered housing can enhance the possibilities to have social relations and improve the ability to do activities. To "give up" their own home might be a sacrifice some old people would choose in order to achieve other things important to the quality of life, if they had the option. An option they seldom are given in the Swedish society today, unless they are severely disabled. Those with a severe illness selected social relations and having no pain to a higher degree than those without severe illness, which also indicates the importance of reducing symptoms and enhancing the ability to socialize, even if we cannot cure the disease. There has been attempts to define "successful ageing", and according to Margret Baltes successful ageing implies having goals and striving for goals against the odds of ever diminishing reserves and increasing vulnerabilities [223]. Facilitating social relations and activities. and enhancing functional ability might improve the quality of life of elderly as much as medical treatment. As discussed above, the lower functional impairment in the later born cohorts in paper II, might partly be due to earlier and better treatment of chronic diseases.

Improving the quality of life of elderly people must besides improving health status and ability include facilitating to do activities and to have social relations. Humans are in need of social contacts, and being seen as subjects. This is also the case for elderly people, of whom many have reduced ability and are in need of assistance in different ways. We must avoid looking at them as objects in need of care and assistance, and see them as the individuals they are. They have a lifelong experience it will need years to achieve for men and women of working age. The future for the elderly population is in many ways dependent on how the society looks upon those not being in the labour force. Elderly of today have built up the welfare we now are enjoying, and it is their right to be the ones to utilize it without being looked upon as a burden. Quality of life is individual and dynamic. Thus, we must listen to the individual, to the needs that individuals have, and how he or she wants to have the assistance – but also enhance the possibility to having goals and striving for goals despite the fact that the ability is diminishing, and thus "aging successfully" [223].

Suicide and health

Risk factors for suicide among the old elderly were family conflict, serious physical illness, loneliness and depression. Seeing suicide as an extremely bad quality of life, it is in accordance with the results from paper IV. Family conflict and loneliness are unsatisfactory social relations. Serious physical illness is bad health status, but also disability since vision impairment was a strong risk factor within physical illness. Vision impairment has a wide-ranging impact on functional status, ranging from physical disability to social functioning and increases the risk of feeling depressed [224]. Decline in health and functional ability have been shown to be predictors of depression, worsening depression and low life satisfaction [225]. It is important that physicians are aware of the possibility of suicidality when elderly patients seek help for somatic complaints, especially as it has been shown that elderly people tend to seek their primary care physician a short time before they commit suicide [124,226]. Old people with visual disability and concomitant depression may be at particular risk.

Depression was the strongest risk factor for suicide in the old elderly group, which is in accordance with recent research demonstrating the importance of affective illness in suicide among older people [130-132,135,136,226]. The finding in paper V that also minor depression was a risk factor, is in line with Draper and Anstey reporting an association between minor depression and attempted suicide in elderly (+65) psychiatric inpatients [227]. The old elderly suicide victims with major or minor depression were less likely to receive treatment than their younger counterparts. There is evidence that antidepressants are still under-prescribed among non-demented very old persons with depression [228], even though the prescription of antidepressants has increased since the introduction of SSRI (selective reuptake inhibitors) [229]. It has also been reported that more recent born cohorts are at increased risk for major depression [230]. Suicide rates have been declining in Sweden during the period 1991-1996 [231], but less pronounced in men aged 75 and above, and absent in women in this age group. Better recognition and treatment of both major and minor depression, especially in older people with concomitant physical illness, is an important target for the prevention of suicides in the elderly people and for enhancing their quality of life.

CONCLUSIONS

Main findings

The mortality was lower in the later born cohorts compared to the first-born. The decrease was most pronounced for those not living in an institution, did not feel tired, had no needs of care, those who were ex- or non-smokers, had one or more diseases and for men reporting too little contact with their children. Health was better in the later born cohorts, compared to the first-born, when measured as self-assessed health, physical functioning and having many symptoms or no symptoms. Subgroups that seemed to have gained the most were women, non-smokers and those reporting too little contact with children, neighbours and/or friends, while the institutionalized 70-year olds in the later born cohorts had a deterioration compared to the first-born. Thus, years of well-being and with quality appear to have been added, although people survive longer with diseases.

Elderly people's health can adequately be assessed through self-reports by interview, especially if the focus is illness, impairments and health in a broader sense. Health status is important to the quality of life of elderly - but social relations, functional ability and activities are equally important. Risk factors for suicide among the old elderly are family conflict, serious physical illness, loneliness and depression – factors that also can be seen as contributors to bad quality of life. It is important to notice, that old elderly suicide victims with depression were less likely to have received treatment for the depression than the young elderly.

Conclusions

Longer life? Yes, according to the results in paper I, later born cohorts are living longer. Up to today, there is no evidence of stagnation in the increase in average life expectancy. Thus, we are still experiencing a prolongation of the life. However, no one knows for how long this increase in longevity will continue.

Better life? Yes, there are indications of years with good health, measured as self-assessed health and physical functioning being added – although we live longer with diseases. Further gains in both survival and health can be expected if life-style factors, e.g. smoking, can be changed in a favorable way. Continued improvements in health care technology and treatment does also increase the likelihood of augmented health status and decreased disability, and thereby also increasing the quality of life. One important target for the future health care is to recognize and treat depressions among elderly people, especially in the context of severe illness and impairment.

In closing

This thesis is but one of many pieces in the giant puzzle of elderly people's health and the development over time. But all pieces are important for the complete picture. I have tried to answer the question if the years that have been added are really good years. And - yes - there are good years being added. On the other hand, I cannot rule out that there might also be some years of ill health. The goal of health care of elderly people must be to minimize the years of ill health, even if it is to optimistic to think that all diseases can be cured. Many good years can be achieved by reducing symptoms and disability, and enhance the ability to do the things in life that the specific individual values most. To use the words of Grimley Evans: "Old age is now a human right, to be enjoyed not endured" [232].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank all of you who have supported me during the work with this thesis

I especially wish to thank:

All participants in the projects who have made this thesis possible

Peter Allebeck, my supervisor and head of the department of social medicine, for introducing me to the research world, for scientific and skillful advice, and for guiding me through this work with a firm hand

Bertil Steen, coauthor and head of the department of geriatric medicine, and Stig Berg, coauthor, for valuable scientific advice and support

All my other coauthors: Christina Andersson, Eva Rubenowitz-Lundin, Margda Waern and Valter Sundh, for never ending patience and support and a good collaboration.

All my colleagues at the department of social medicine, Stefan Granbom for statistical advice and support, Eva Johansson for interviews and for encouragement and support, Marina Johansson for technical assistance and Carina Johansson for help with the computer and technical assistance

My parents, for encouragement and support

My husband, Lars Sundell, for always standing by my side when I need it

My children, Daniel, Tobias and Emma, for all your joy and laughter, and for never letting me forget the world outside work and research

Financial support was given by the Swedish Medical Research Council (grant no. K98-27X-12268-02B/02BK), the Swedish Council for Planning and Coordination of Research, the King Gustav V and Queen Victoria Foundation, the Wilhelm and Martina Lundgren Foundation, and the Elsa and Eivind K:son Sylvan Foundation, The Swedish Council for Social Research (grant F0042) and The Swedish Foundation for Health Care Science and Allergy Research (V98 226), the Lundbeck Foundation, Pharmacia & Upjohn, the Svensson Foundation, the Swedish Research Council (grant 11267) and the Swedish Council for Working Life and Social Research (grant 1154)

SUMMARY

Background: Life expectancy has been steadily increasing in most industrial countries, and there is no evidence of stagnation. Whether or not the added years are years in good health and with quality of life have been vividly debated during the last decades. Previous studies have found indications of both improved and deteriorated health among elderly. For the planning of health care and prevention for the elderly population, there is a need of increased knowledge of how the development of mortality and morbidity has been in different subgroups in the society. There is also a need to know what elderly people consider being important to quality of life. Knowledge about risk factors for suicide among old elderly is spare, despite the fact that those aged 75 and above have the highest suicide rates in most developed countries.

Aim:

- To analyse differences in mortality and morbidity measured as selfassessed health, number of symptoms, number of diseases and physical function - in three different cohorts of 70-year olds with special regard to the impact of social factors.
- To compare data from interviews and medical records regarding illness, symptoms and impairments among elderly.
- To investigate what elderly people consider being important for their quality of life.
- To determine predictors for suicide among the old elderly (75+).

Methods: Paper I and II: A random samples of 70-year old people born in 1901/02, 1906/07 and 1911/12. In the three cohorts there were 973, 1036 and 619 participants, respectively. They were examined for the first time at age 70 and interviewed regarding social background, social network, self-assessed health, need of care and number of diseases. Death records were obtained up to and including 1998. Paper III - V: 85 elderly suicide cases (65 years of age and above) and 153 randomly selected control persons with the same sex, birth year (+-2 years) and living in the same area. Information about the suicide cases was collected through interviews with close informants. The control persons were interviewed in person. Medical records for both groups were reviewed.

Results: The later born cohorts had lower mortality compared to the first-born cohort. Participants not living in an institution, those reporting not feeling tired, non-smokers, those with one or more disease and men reporting too little contact with their children were among those who had lower mortality in the later born cohorts. There were fewer 70-year olds not feeling healthy in the later born cohorts compared to those born 1901/02, and there were fewer having many symptoms. There were also indications of better physical functioning in the later born cohorts. Women had a better development than men, while those living in

institution had a deterioration. Medical records gave better information concerning specific diseases and diagnoses e.g. the vascular organ system, while interview data provided better measures of illness, functional impairment and health in a broader sense, such as impaired sight, hearing and mobility. Elderly persons consider health, social relations, functional ability and activities as important to the quality of life. Family discord, severe physical illness, loneliness and both minor and major depression were risk factors for suicide in the old elderly.

Conclusions: Survival has increased, and it seems to be good years, measured as self-assessed health and physical functioning, that have been added - although we live longer with diseases. More good years can be gained with improvements in life style behavior such as reduced smoking. Continued improvements in health services and medical treatment do also increase the likelihood of better health status and decreased disability. One important target for the future health care is to recognize and treat depressions among elderly people, especially in the context of severe illness and impairment.

REFERENCES

1. version	Kovacs J. The concept of health and disease. Med Health Care Philos 1998;1(1):31-9.
2.	Fugelli P, Ingstad B. [Healthpeople's perspective]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2001;121(30):3600-4.
3.	Wilmoth JR. The future of human longevity: a demographer's perspective. Science 1998;280(5362):395-7.
4.	Wilmoth JR. Demography of longevity: past, present, and future trends. Exp Gerontol 2000;35(9-10):1111-29.
5.	Kinsella KG. Changes in life expectancy 1900-1990. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;55(6 Suppl):1196S-1202S.
6.	Kinsella K, Velkoff VA. Life expectancy and changing mortality. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002;14(5):322-32.
7.	Vaupel JW, Carey JR, Christensen K, Johnson TE, Yashin AI, Holm NV, et al. Biodemographic trajectories of longevity. Science 1998;280(5365):855-60.
8.	Kannisto V, Lauritsen J, Thatcher AR, Vaupel JW. Reductions in Mortality at Advanced Ages - Several Decades of Evidence from 27 Countries. Population and Development Review 1994:20(4):793-810.
9.	Kranczer S. Continued United States longevity increases. Stat Bull Metrop Insur Co 1999;80(4):20-7.
10.	Caselli G. The key phases of the European health transition. Pol Popul Rev 1995(7):73-102.
11. 6.0 part	Himes CL. Age patterns of mortality and cause-of-death structures in Sweden, Japan, and the United States. Demography 1994;31(4):633-50.
12.	Kinsella K. Demographic aspects. In: Ebrahim S, Kalache A, editors. Epidemiology in old age. London: BMJ Publishing Group; 1996.
13.	Kinsella K, Velkoff VA. The demographics of aging. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002;14(3):159-69.
14.	Wilmoth JR, Deegan LJ, Lundstrom H, Horiuchi S. Increase of maximum life-span in Sweden, 1861-1999. Science 2000;289(5488):2366-8.
15.	Olshansky SJ, Carnes BA, Desesquelles A. Demography. Prospects for human longevity. Science 2001;291(5508):1491-2.
16.	Warnes AM. UK and western European late-age mortality: trends in cause-specific death rates, 1960-1990. Health Place 1999:5(1):111-8.
17	From what will we die in 2020? Lancet 1997:349(9061):1263

18.	Olshansky SJ, Ault AB. The 4th Stage of the Epidemiologic Transition - the Age of Delayed Degenerative Diseases. Milbank
19.	Quarterly 1986;64(3):355-391. Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity.
20.	N Engl J Med 1980;303(3):130-5. Greene VW. Personal hygiene and life expectancy improvements since 1850: historic and epidemiologic associations. Am Linfect
Inches	Control 2001;29(4):203-6.
21.	Olshansky SJ, Carnes BA, Cassel C. In search of Methuselah: estimating the upper limits to human longevity. Science 1990;250(4981):634-40.
22.	Nusselder WJ, Mackenbach JP. Rectangularization of the survival curve in The Netherlands, 1950-1992. Gerontologist 1996:36(6):773-82.
23.	Christensen K, Vaupel JW. Determinants of longevity: genetic, environmental and medical factors. J Intern Med 1996:240(6):333-41
24.	Rothenberg R, Lentzner HR, Parker RA. Population aging patterns: the expansion of mortality. J Gerontol 1991;46(2):S66- 70.
25.	The Berkeley Mortality Database (BMD), http://demog.berkeley.edu/wilmoth/mortality.
26.	Wiener JM, Tilly J. Population ageing in the United States of America: implications for public programmes. Int J Epidemiol 2002;31(4):776-81.
27.	Kaplan GA. Epidemiologic observations on the Compression of Morbidity. Journal of Aging and Health 1991;3(2):155-171.
28.	Sytkowski PA, D'Agostino RB, Belanger A, Kannel WB. Sex and time trends in cardiovascular disease incidence and mortality: the Framingham Heart Study, 1950-1989. Am J Epidemiol 1996;143(4):338-50.
29.	Massarelli G, Muscari A, Hanau C, Paradossi U, Puddu P. Mortality rates and number of deaths from cardiovascular diseases in Italy from 1982 to 1993. A comparison with total and tumour data. Int J Cardiol 2000;75(1):37-42.
30.	Jeune B. Living longerbut better? Aging Clin Exp Res 2002;14(2):72-93.
31.	Ljungquist B. Aging and Survival. Studies of Social, Behavioural, and Genetic Correlates. (Thesis) Göteborg: Göteborg University; 1996.
32.	Schoenfeld DE, Malmrose LC, Blazer DG, Gold DT, Seeman TE. Self-rated health and mortality in the high-functioning elderlya closer look at healthy individuals: MacArthur field study of successful aging. I Gerontol 1994:49(3):M109-15
33.	Shye D, Mullooly JP, Freeborn DK, Pope CR. Gender differences in the relationship between social network support and mortality: a longitudinal study of an elderly cohort. Soc Sci Med
-----	--
	1995;41(7):935-47.
34.	Mellstrom D, Nilsson A, Oden A, Rundgren A, Svanborg A. Mortality among the widowed in Sweden. Scand J Soc Med 1982:10(2):33-41.
35.	Olausson PO. Mortality among the elderly in Sweden by social class. Soc Sci Med 1991;32(4):437-40.
36.	Martelin T. Socio-demographic Differentials in Mortality at Older Ages in Finland. In: Caselli G, Lopez AD, editors. Health and Mortality Among Elderly Populations. Oxford: Clarendon press; 1996.
37.	Elo IT, Preston SH. Educational differentials in mortality: United States, 1979-85. Soc Sci Med 1996;42(1):47-57.
38.	Fries JF. The compression of morbidity: miscellaneous comments about a theme. Gerontologist 1984;24(4):354-9.
39.	Fries JF. The compression of morbidity: near or far? Milbank Q 1989;67(2):208-32.
40.	Olshansky SJ, Rudberg MA, Carnes BA, Cassel CK, Brody JA. Trading Off Longer Life for Worsening Health. The Expansion of Morbidity Hypothesis. Journal of Aging and Health 1991:3(2):194-216
41.	Guralnik JM. Prospects for the Compression of Morbidity.
42.	Fries JF. Aging, cumulative disability, and the compression of morbidity. Compr Ther 2001;27(4):322-9.
43.	Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity. 1980. Bull World Health Organ 2002;80(3):245-50.
44.	Van de Water HP. Health expectancy and the problem of substitute morbidity. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1997;352(1363):1819-27.
45.	Guralnik JM, Fried LP, Salive ME. Disability as a public health outcome in the aging population. Annu Rev Public Health 1996;17:25-46.
46.	Robine J-M, Mathers C, Brouard N. Trends and Differentials in Disability-Free Life Expectancy: Concepts, Methods, and Findings. In: Caselli G, Lopez AD, editors. Health and Mortality
	Among Elderly Populations. Oxford: Clarendon press; 1996.
47.	Fries JF. Physical activity, the compression of morbidity, and the health of the elderly. J R Soc Med 1996;89(2):64-8.
48.	Manton KG. Changing concepts of morbidity and mortality in the elderly population. Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc 1982:60(2):183-244

49.	Manton KG, Stallard E, Corder L. Changes in morbidity and chronic disability in the U.S. elderly population: evidence from the 1982, 1984, and 1989 National Long Term Care Surveys. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 1995;50(4):S194-204.
50.	Reynolds SL, Crimmins EM, Saito Y. Cohort differences in disability and disease presence. Gerontologist 1998;38(5):578-90.
51.	Kannus P, Palvanen M, Niemi S, Parkkari J, Jarvinen M, Vuori I. Increasing number and incidence of osteoporotic fractures of the proximal humerus in elderly people. BMJ 1996;313(7064):1051- 2.
52.	Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB. Secular trends in stroke in the Framingham Study. Ann Epidemiol 1993;3(5):471-5.
53.	Roos NP, Havens B, Black C. Living longer but doing worse: assessing health status in elderly persons at two points in time in Manitoba, Canada, 1971 and 1983. Soc Sci Med 1993;36(3):273- 82.
54.	Jylha M, Jokela J, Tolvanen E, Heikkinen E, Heikkinen RL, Koskinen S, et al. The Tampere Longitudinal Study on Ageing. Description of the study. Basic results on health and functional ability. Scand J Soc Med Suppl 1992;47:1-58.
55.	Doblhammer G, Kytir J. Compression or expansion of morbidity? Trends in healthy-life expectancy in the elderly Austrian population between 1978 and 1998. Soc Sci Med 2001;52(3):385- 91.
56.	Pohjolainen P, Heikkinen E, Lyyra AL, Helin S, Tyrkko K. Socio-economic status, health and life-style in two elderly cohorts in Jyvaskyla. Scand J Soc Med Suppl 1997;52:1-65.
57.	Spiers N, Jagger C, Clarke M. Physical function and perceived health: cohort differences and interrelationships in older people. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 1996;51(5):S226-33.
58.	Jurgensen KS, Avlund K, Schroll M. [Health status of the 70- year-old population in the past and present. A cohort comparison of 70-year old men and women born in 1987 and 1914 in Glostrup]. Ugeskr Laeger 1990;152(41):2993-7.
59.	Schroll M. Does increased life expectancy imply active life expectancy? Dan Med Bull 1992;39(3):258-61.
60.	Hoeymans N, Feskens EJ, van den Bos GA, Kromhout D. Age, time, and cohort effects on functional status and self-rated health in elderly men. Am J Public Health 1997;87(10):1620-5.
61.	Schroll M, Jorgensen T, Ingerslev J. The Glostrup Population Studies, 1964-1992. Dan Med Bull 1992;39(3):204-7.
62.	Steen B. Cohort differences in the elderly - 25 years with the gerontological and geriatric population studies in Gothenburg, Sweden. Gerontologia, Suppl 1996;10(Suppl 1):104-105.

63.	Steen B. The elderly yesterday, today and tomorrow: Aspects on cohort differences from the gerontological and geriatric
	population studies in Göteborg, Sweden (H70). Arch. Gerontol.
61	Manton KG Stallard E Corder I S. The dynamics of dimensions
04.	of age-related disability 1982 to 1994 in the U.S. elderly
65.	Allaire SH, LaValley MP, Evans SR, O'Connor GT, Kelly-Hayes M. Meenan RF, et al. Evidence for decline in disability and
	improved health among persons aged 55 to 70 years: the
	Framingham Heart Study Am I Public Health 1999.89(11):1678-
	83
66	Ahacic K Parker MG Thorshund M Mobility limitations in the
	Swedish population from 1968 to 1992: age, gender and social
	class differences. Aging (Milano) 2000:12(3):190-8.
67.	Cutler DM. Declining disability among the elderly. Health Aff
	(Millwood) 2001:20(6):11-27.
68.	Manton KG, Gu X. Changes in the prevalence of chronic
	disability in the United States black and nonblack population
	above age 65 from 1982 to 1999. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A
	2001;98(11):6354-9.
69.	Liao Y, McGee DL, Cao G, Cooper RS. Recent changes in the
	health status of the older U.S. population: findings from the 1984 and 1994 supplement on aging. J Am Geriatr Soc
	2001;49(4):443-9.
70.	Schoeni RF, Freedman VA, Wallace RB. Persistent, consistent,
	widespread, and robust? Another look at recent trends in old-age
	disability. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2001;56(4):S206-18.
71.	Pitkala KH, Valvanne J, Kulp S, Strandberg TE, Tilvis RS.
	Secular trends in self-reported functioning, need for assistance
	and attitudes towards life: 10-year differences of three older
	cohorts. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001;49(5):596-600.
72.	Malmberg JJ, Millunpalo SI, Vuori IM, Pasanen ME, Oja P,
	Haapanen-Niemi NA. Improved functional status in 16 years of
	follow up of middle aged and elderly men and women in north
	eastern Finland. J Epidemiol Community Health
72	2002;56(12):905-12.
13.	Freedman VA, Martin LG, Schoeni KF. Recent trends in
	States a systematic region. IAMA 2002,288(24),2127.46
74	Costo DI Changing abrania disease rates and long term declines
/4.	in functional limitation among older men. Demography
	$2002 \cdot 39(1) \cdot 119 - 37$

75.	Manton KG, Corder L, Stallard E. Chronic disability trends in elderly United States populations: 1982-1994. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A. 1997:94(6):2593-8
76.	Fries JF. Reducing disability in older age. JAMA 2002:288(24):3164-6.
77.	Winblad I, Jaaskelainen M, Kivela SL, Hiltunen P, Laippala P. Prevalence of disability in three birth cohorts at old age over time spans of 10 and 20 years. J Clin Epidemiol 2001;54(10):1019-24.
78.	Picavet HS, Hoeymans N. Physical disability in The Netherlands: prevalence, risk groups and time trends. Public Health 2002;116(4):231-7.
79.	Mathers CD, Sadana R, Salomon JA, Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Healthy life expectancy in 191 countries, 1999. Lancet 2001;357(9269):1685-91.
80.	Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Regional patterns of disability-free life expectancy and disability-adjusted life expectancy: global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997;349(9062):1347-52.
81.	Robine JM, Mormiche P, Sermet C. Examination of the causes and mechanisms of the increase in disability-free life expectancy. Journal of Aging and Health 1998;10(2):171-191.
82.	Costa DL. Understanding the twentieth-century decline in chronic conditions among older men. Demography 2000;37(1):53-72.
83.	Parker MG, Ahacic K, Thorslund M, Lundberg O. Socioeconomic status and health among elderly people in Sweden. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1999;896:383-5.
84.	Cavelaars AE, Kunst AE, Geurts JJ, Crialesi R, Grotvedt L, Helmert U, et al. Differences in self reported morbidity by educational level: a comparison of 11 western European countries. J Epidemiol Community Health 1998;52(4):219-27.
85.	Sihvonen AP, Kunst AE, Lahelma E, Valkonen T, Mackenbach JP. Socioeconomic inequalities in health expectancy in Finland and Norway in the late 1980s. Soc Sci Med 1998;47(3):303-15.
86.	Westbrook JI, McIntosh JH, Rushworth RL, Berry G, Duggan JM. Agreement between medical record data and patients' accounts of their medical history and treatment for dyspepsia. J Clin Epidemiol 1998:51(3):237-44
87.	Klungel OH, de Boer A, Paes AH, Seidell JC, Bakker A. Cardiovascular diseases and risk factors in a population-based study in The Netherlands: agreement between questionnaire information and medical records. Neth J Med 1999;55(4):177-83.
88.	Prevalence of chronic diseases in older Italians: comparing self- reported and clinical diagnoses. The Italian Longitudinal Study on Aging Working Group. Int J Epidemiol 1997;26(5):995-1002.

89.	Midthjell K, Holmen J, Bjorndal A, Lund-Larsen G. Is questionnaire information valid in the study of a chronic disease such as disketes? The Nord Trandelog disketes study. I
	Enidemial Community Health 1992:46(5):537-42
90	Martin LM Leff M Calonge N Garrett C Nelson DE, Validation
	of self-reported chronic conditions and health services in a managed care population. Am J Prev Med 2000;18(3):215-8.
91.	Harlow SD, Linet MS. Agreement between questionnaire data and medical records. The evidence for accuracy of recall. Am J Enidemiol 1989:129(2):233-48
92.	Beckett M, Weinstein M, Goldman N, Yu-Hsuan L. Do health interview surveys yield reliable data on chronic illness among older respondents? Am L Enidemial 2000;151(3):315-23
93.	Kvale JN, Gillanders WR, Buss TF, Gemmel D, Crenesse A, Griffiths-Marnejon J. Agreement between telephone survey and
	medical record data for the elderly patient. Fam Pract Res J
94.	Evaluation of National Health Interview Survey diagnostic
05	Burns RB Moskowitz MA Ash A Kane RI Finch MD Bak
95.	SM. Self-report versus medical record functional status. Med
96.	Gross R, Bentur N, Elhayany A, Sherf M, Epstein L. The validity
	underreporters and implications for the planning of services. Public Health Rev 1996:24(2):167-82
97.	Bush TL, Miller SR, Golden AL, Hale WE, Self-report and
	medical record report agreement of selected medical conditions in the elderly. Am J Public Health 1989;79(11):1554-6.
98.	Kriegsman DM, Penninx BW, van Eijk JT, Boeke AJ, Deeg DJ.
	Self-reports and general practitioner information on the presence of chronic diseases in community dwelling elderly. A study on
	the accuracy of patients' self-reports and on determinants of
	inaccuracy. J Clin Epidemiol 1996;49(12):1407-17.
99.	Last JM. A dictionary of epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press; 1988.
100.	Smith J, Borchelt M, Maier H, Jopp D. Health and well-being in
	2002:58(4):715-732
101.	Pinquart M. Correlates of subjective health in older adults: a meta-analysis. Psychol Aging 2001;16(3):414-26
102.	Sarvimaki A, Stenbock-Hult B. Quality of life in old age
	described as a sense of well-being, meaning and value. J Adv Nurs 2000:32(4):1025-33.

103.	Grimby A, Svanborg A. Morbidity and health-related quality of life among ambulant elderly citizens. Aging (Milano) 1997.9(5):356-64
104.	Wood-Dauphinee S. Assessing quality of life in clinical research: from where have we come and where are we going? J Clin
	Epidemiol 1999:52(4):355-63.
105.	The World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Soc Sci Med 1995:41(10):1403-9
106.	What quality of life? The WHOOOL Group, World Health
	Organization Quality of Life Assessment. World Health Forum 1996;17(4):354-6.
107.	Farquhar M. Definitions of quality of life: a taxonomy. J Adv Nurs 1995;22(3):502-8.
108.	Kane RL. Scaling the heights of quality of life. J Clin Epidemiol 2001;54(11):1079-80.
109.	Anderson RT, Aaronson NK, Bullinger M, McBee WL. A review of the progress towards developing health-related quality-of-life instruments for international clinical studies and outcomes research. Pharmacoeconomics 1996;10(4):336-55.
110.	Carr AJ, Higginson IJ. Are quality of life measures patient centred? BMJ 2001;322(7298):1357-60.
111.	Faden R, German PS. Quality of life. Considerations in geriatrics. Clin Geriatr Med 1994;10(3):541-51.
112.	Leplege A, Hunt S. The problem of quality of life in medicine. JAMA 1997;278(1):47-50.
113.	Gill TM, Feinstein AR. A critical appraisal of the quality of quality-of-life measurements. JAMA 1994;272(8):619-26.
114.	Albert SM. Defining and measuring quality of life in medicine. JAMA 1998;279(6):429; discussion 431.
115.	Arnold SB. Measurement of Quality of Life in the Frail Elderly. In: Birren JE, Lubben JE, Cichowlas Rowe J, Deutchman DE, editors. The Concept and Measurement of Quality of Life in the Frail Elderly: Academic Press, Inc.; 1991. p. 50-73.
116.	Hunt SM. The problem of quality of life. Qual Life Res 1997;6(3):205-12.
117.	Covinsky KE, Wu AW, Landefeld CS, Connors AF, Jr., Phillips RS, Tsevat J, et al. Health status versus quality of life in older patients: does the distinction matter? Am J Med 1999;106(4):435- 40.
118.	Albrecht GL, Devlieger PJ. The disability paradox: high quality of life against all odds. Soc Sci Med 1999:48(8):977-88.

119.	Strawbridge WJ, Wallhagen MI, Cohen RD. Successful aging and well-being: self-rated compared with Rowe and Kahn.
	Gerontologist 2002;42(6):727-33.
120.	Nilsson M, Ekman SL, Ericsson K, Winblad B. Some characteristics of the quality of life in old age illustrated by means of Allardt's concept. Scand J Caring Sci 1996;10(2):116-21.
121.	Bowling A. What things are important in people's lives? A survey of the public's judgements to inform scales of health related quality of life. Soc Sci Med 1995;41(10):1447-62.
122.	Farquhar M. Elderly people's definitions of quality of life. Soc Sci Med 1995;41(10):1439-46.
123.	McIntosh JL. Suicide prevention in the elderly (age 65-99). Suicide Life Threat Behav 1995;25(1):180-92.
124.	Conwell Y, Caine ED. Rational suicide and the right to die. Reality and myth. N Engl J Med 1991;325(15):1100-3.
125.	Bharucha AJ, Satlin A. Late-life suicide: a review. Harv Rev Psychiatry 1997;5(2):55-65.
126.	Waern M. Suicide in late life. (Thesis) Göteborg: Göteborg University; 2000.
127.	Skoog I, Aevarsson O, Beskow J, Larsson L, Palsson S, Waern M, et al. Suicidal feelings in a population sample of nondemented 85-year-olds. Am J Psychiatry 1996;153(8):1015-20.
128.	Forsell Y, Jorm AF, Winblad B. Suicidal thoughts and associated factors in an elderly population. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1997:95(2):108-11
129.	Hepple J, Quinton C. One hundred cases of attempted suicide in the elderly. Br J Psychiatry 1997;171:42-6.
130.	Carney SS, Rich CL, Burke PA, Fowler RC. Suicide over 60: the San Diego study. J Am Geriatr Soc 1994;42(2):174-80.
131.	Henriksson MM, Marttunen MJ, Isometsa ET, Heikkinen ME, Aro HM, Kuoppasalmi KI, et al. Mental disorders in elderly suicide. Int Psychogeriatr 1995;7(2):275-86.
132.	Conwell Y, Duberstein PR, Cox C, Herrmann JH, Forbes NT, Caine ED. Relationships of age and axis I diagnoses in victims of completed suicide: a psychological autopsy study. Am J Psychiatry 1996;153(8):1001-8.
133.	Conwell Y, Lyness JM, Duberstein P, Cox C, Seidlitz L, DiGiorgio A, et al. Completed suicide among older patients in primary care practices: a controlled study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000;48(1):23-9.
134.	Harwood D, Hawton K, Hope T, Jacoby R. Psychiatric disorder and personality factors associated with suicide in older people: a descriptive and case-control study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2001:16(2):155-65.

135.	Beautrais AL. A case control study of suicide and attempted suicide in older adults. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2002:32(1):1-9.
136.	Waern M. Runeson BS, Allebeck P, Beskow J, Rubenowitz E,
dinte.	Skoog I, et al. Mental disorder in elderly suicides: a case-control
	study. Am J Psychiatry 2002:159(3):450-5.
137.	Conwell Y. Brent D. Suicide and aging. I: Patterns of psychiatric
	diagnosis. Int Psychogeriatr 1995;7(2):149-64.
138.	Conwell Y, Duberstein PR, Caine ED. Risk factors for suicide in
150.	later life. Biol Psychiatry 2002;52(3):193-204.
139.	Rubenowitz E, Waern M, Wilhelmson K, Allebeck P. Life events
	and psychosocial factors in elderly suicides a case-control study.
	Psychol Med 2001;31(7):1193-202.
140.	Waern M, Rubenowitz E, Runeson B, Skoog I, Wilhelmson K,
	Allebeck P. Burden of illness and suicide in elderly people: case-
	control study. BMJ 2002;324(7350):1355.
141.	Heikkinen ME, Lonnqvist JK. Recent life events in elderly
	suicide: a nationwide study in Finland. Int Psychogeriatr
	1995;7(2):287-300.
142.	Harris EC, Barraclough B. Suicide as an outcome for mental
	disorders. A meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 1997;170:205-28.
143.	Grabbe L, Demi A, Camann MA, Potter L. The health status of
	elderly persons in the last year of life: a comparison of deaths by
	suicide, injury, and natural causes. Am J Public Health
	1997;87(3):434-7.
144.	Palsson S, Skoog I. The epidemiology of affective disorders in
	the elderly: a review. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 1997;12(Suppl
	7):S3-13.
145.	Lee Y, Choi K, Lee YK. Association of comorbidity with
	depressive symptoms in community-dwelling older persons.
	Gerontology 2001;47(5):254-62.
146.	Rinder L, Roupe S, Steen B, Svanborg A. Seventy-year-old
	people in Gothenburg. A population study in an industrialized
	Swedish city. Acta Med Scand 1975;198(5):397-407.
147.	Steen B, Djurfeldt H. The gerontological and geriatric population
1.40	studies in Gothenburg, Sweden. Z Gerontol 1993;26(3):163-9.
148.	Eriksson BG, Mellstrom D, Svanborg A. Medical-social
	intervention in a 70-year-old Swedish population. A general
	presentation of methodological experience. Compr Gerontol [C]
1.40	1987;1:49-56.
149.	Sonn U, Frandin K, Grimby G. Instrumental activities of daily
	itving related to impairments and functional limitations in /0-
	year-olds and changes between /0 and /0 years of age. Scand J
	Kenanii vied 1997.7/1/1.19-70

150.	Sonn U, Grimby G, Svanborg A. Activities of daily living studied longitudinally between 70 and 76 years of age. Disabil Rehabil
151.	Allison PD. Event history analysis. Regression for longitudinal event data. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications; 1984.
152.	Asberg M, Montgomery SA, Perris C, Schalling D, Sedvall G. A comprehensive psychopathological rating scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 1978(271):5-27.
153.	Skoog I, Nilsson L, Palmertz B, Andreasson LA, Svanborg A. A population-based study of dementia in 85-year-olds. N Engl J Med 1993;328(3):153-8.
154.	Paykel ES, Myers JK, Dienelt MN, Klerman GL, Lindenthal JJ, Pepper MP. Life events and depression. A controlled study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1969;21(6):753-60.
155.	Paykel ES, Myers JK, Lindenthal JJ, Tanner J. Suicidal feelings in the general population: a prevalence study. Br J Psychiatry 1974;124(0):460-9.
156.	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition: DSM-IV. Fourth Edition ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
157.	Miller MD, Paradis CF, Houck PR, Mazumdar S, Stack JA, Rifai AH, et al. Rating chronic medical illness burden in geropsychiatric practice and research: application of the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale. Psychiatry Res 1992;41(3):237- 48.
158.	Linn BS, Linn MW, Gurel L. Cumulative illness rating scale. J Am Geriatr Soc 1968:16(5):622-6.
159.	Parmelee PA, Thuras PD, Katz IR, Lawton MP. Validation of the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale in a geriatric residential population. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995:43(2):130-7.
160.	Conwell Y, Forbes NT, Cox C, Caine ED. Validation of a measure of physical illness burden at autopsy: the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale. J Am Geriatr Soc 1993;41(1):38-41.
161.	Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977;33(1):159-74.
162.	Svensson E. Analysis of Systematic and Random Difference Between Paired Ordinal Categorical Data. (Thesis) Göteborg: Göteborg University; 1993.
163.	Svensson E. A Coefficient of Agreement Adjusted for Bias in Paired Ordered Categorical Data. Biometrical Journal 1997;39:643 - 657.
164.	Herzog AR, Rodgers WL. Age and response rates to interview sample surveys. J Gerontol 1988;43(6):S200-5.

165.	Slattery ML, Edwards SL, Caan BJ, Kerber RA, Potter JD. Response rates among control subjects in case-control studies.
166	Stroubridge WI Kenlen GA Comache T Cohen PD The
100.	Strawondge wJ, Kapian GA, Camacito I, Collen KD. The
	dynamics of disability and functional change in an elderly conort.
	1002.40(9).700 806
1/7	1992;40(8):799-806.
167.	1998:316(7139):1236-8.
168.	Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Modern Epidemiology, Philadelphia:
ct zon	Lippincott-Raven: 1998. p. 225-9
169.	Brent DA, Perper JA, Kolko DJ, Zelenak JP. The psychological
	autopsy: methodological considerations for the study of
	adolescent suicide. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry
	1988:27(3):362-6.
170.	Conner KR, Conwell Y, Duberstein PR. The validity of proxy-
	based data in suicide research: a study of patients 50 years of age
	and older who attempted suicide. II. Life events, social support
	and suicidal behavior. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001;104(6):452-7.
171.	Conner KR, Duberstein PR, Conwell Y. The validity of proxy-
	based data in suicide research: a study of patients 50 years of age
	and older who attempted suicide. I. Psychiatric diagnoses. Acta
	Psychiatr Scand 2001;104(3):204-9.
172.	Martelin T. Trends in elderly mortality in the Nordic countries.
	Compr Gerontol [C] 1987;1:39-48.
173.	Kannisto V. Development of oldest-old mortality, 1950-1990:
	Evidence from 28 developed countries. Odense: Odense
	University Press; 1994.
174.	Nusselder WJ, Mackenbach JP. Lack of improvement of life
	expectancy at advanced ages in The Netherlands. Int J Epidemiol
	2000;29(1):140-8.
175.	Leveille SG, Guralnik JM, Ferrucci L, Langlois JA. Aging
	successfully until death in old age: opportunities for increasing
	active life expectancy. Am J Epidemiol 1999;149(7):654-64.
176.	Nusselder WJ, Looman CW, Marang-van de Mheen PJ, van de
	Mheen H, Mackenbach JP. Smoking and the compression of
	morbidity. J Epidemiol Community Health 2000;54(8):566-74.
177.	Barker DJ. The fetal and infant origins of disease. Eur J Clin
	Invest 1995;25(7):457-63.
178.	Wadsworth ME. Health inequalities in the life course perspective.
	Soc Sci Med 1997;44(6):859-69.
179.	Blackwell DL, Hayward MD, Crimmins EM. Does childhood
	health affect chronic morbidity in later life? Soc Sci Med
	2001;52(8):1269-84.

180.	Kinsella K, Velkoff VA. Health and disability. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002:14(5):333-42.
181.	Ben-Shlomo Y, Kuh D. A life course approach to chronic disease
	epidemiology: conceptual models, empirical challenges and
100	interdisciplinary perspectives. Int J Epidemiol 2002;31(2):285-93.
182.	trends in the self-reported health of the U.S. elderly. Milbank Q
183	Cutler DM The reduction in disability among the elderly. Proc
105.	Natl A cad Sci U.S. A 2001-98(12):6546-7
184	Freedman VA Martin I.G. Contribution of chronic conditions to
104.	aggregate changes in old-age functioning Am I Public Health
	2000.90(11):1755-60
185	Crimmins EM Mortality and health in human life spans. Exp
100.	Gerontol 2001:36(4-6):885-97.
186.	Grundy EM. Population review: (5). The population aged 60 and
A States	over. Popul Trends 1996(84):14-20.
187.	Freedman VA, Martin LG. Understanding trends in functional
	limitations among older Americans. Am J Public Health
	1998;88(10):1457-62.
188.	Waidmann TA, Liu K. Disability trends among elderly persons
	and implications for the future. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci
	2000;55(5):S298-307.
189.	Colvez A. Disability free life expectancy. In: Ebrahim S, Kalache
	A, editors. Epidemiology in old age. London: BMJ Publishing
	Group; 1996.
190.	Dunnell K, Fitzpatrick J, Bunting J. Making use of official
	statistics in research on gender and health status: recent British
	data. Soc Sci Med 1999;48(1):117-27.
191.	Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM. Physical disability in older
	Americans. J Gerontol 1993;48(Spec No):3-10.
192.	Laditka SB, Laditka JN. Recent perspectives on active life
	expectancy for older women. J Women Aging 2002;14(1-2):163-
	84.
193.	Oman D, Reed D, Ferrara A. Do elderly women have more
	physical disability than men do? Am J Epidemiol
104	1999;150(8):834-42.
194.	Lawrence RC, Hochberg MC, Kelsey JL, McDuffie FC, Medsger
	I A, Jr., Felts WR, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of selected
	artification and musculoskeletal diseases in the United States. J
105	Kneumatol 1989;10(4):42/-41.
195.	older women report? J Gen Intern Med 2002;17(10):766-73.

196.	Crimmins EM, Kim JK, Hagedorn A. Life with and without disease: women experience more of both. J Women Aging
	2002;14(1-2):47-59.
197.	Mendes de Leon CF, Glass TA, Beckett LA, Seeman TE, Evans
	DA, Berkman LF. Social networks and disability transitions
	across eight intervals of yearly data in the New Haven EPESE. J
	Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 1999;54(3):S162-72.
198.	Seeman TE. Social ties and health: the benefits of social
	integration. Ann Epidemiol 1996;6(5):442-51.
199.	Bowling A. Social support and social networks: their relationship
	to the successful and unsuccessful survival of elderly people in
	the community. An analysis of concepts and a review of the
	evidence. Fam Pract 1991;8(1):68-83.
200.	Manton KG. Mortality and Life Expectancy Changes Among the
	Oldes Old. In: Suzman RM, Willis DP, Manton KG, editors. The
	Oldest Old. New York Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1992.
201.	Vita AJ, Terry RB, Hubert HB, Fries JF. Aging, health risks, and
	cumulative disability. N Engl J Med 1998;338(15):1035-41.
202.	Wang BW, Ramey DR, Schettler JD, Hubert HB, Fries JF.
	Postponed development of disability in elderly runners: a 13-year
	longitudinal study. Arch Intern Med 2002;162(20):2285-94.
203	Hubert HB, Bloch DA, Oehlert JW, Fries JF, Lifestyle habits and
2001	compression of morbidity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci
	2002:57(6):M347-51.
204.	LaCroix AZ, Guralnik JM, Berkman LF, Wallace RB, Satterfield
	S. Maintaining mobility in late life. II. Smoking, alcohol
	consumption, physical activity, and body mass index. Am J
	Epidemiol 1993:137(8):858-69.
205.	Parker MG. Thorslund M. Lundberg O. Kareholt I. Predictors of
	physical function among the oldest old: a comparison of three
	outcome variables in a 24-year follow-up. J Aging Health
	1996:8(3):444-60.
206.	Breslow L. Breslow N. Health practices and disability: some
	evidence from Alameda County. Prev Med 1993;22(1):86-95.
207.	Ferrucci L. Izmirlian G. Leveille S. Phillips CL. Corti MC, Brock
	DB. et al. Smoking, physical activity, and active life expectancy.
	Am J Epidemiol 1999:149(7):645-53.
208.	Mackenbach JP, Simon JG, Looman CW, Joung IM, Self-
	assessed health and mortality: could psychosocial factors explain
	the association? Int J Epidemiol 2002:31(6):1162-8.
209.	Lauderdale DS. Education and survival: birth cohort, period, and
And the	age effects. Demography 2001:38(4):551-61.
210.	Leigh JP, Fries JF. Education, gender, and the compression of
	morbidity. Int J Aging Hum Dev 1994;39(3):233-46.

211.	Amaducci L, Maggi S, Langlois J, Minicuci N, Baldereschi M, Di Carlo A, et al. Education and the risk of physical disability and
	mortality among men and women aged 65 to 84: the Italian
	Longitudinal Study on Aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1998;53(6):M484-90.
212.	Valkonen T, Sihvonen AP, Lahelma E. Health expectancy by
	level of education in Finland. Soc Sci Med 1997;44(6):801-8.
213.	Crimmins EM, Saito Y. Trends in healthy life expectancy in the United States, 1970-1990: gender, racial, and educational
	differences. Soc Sci Med 2001:52(11):1629-41.
214.	Pappas G. Oueen S. Hadden W. Fisher G. The increasing
	disparity in mortality between socioeconomic groups in the
	United States, 1960 and 1986, N Engl J Med 1993:329(2):103-9.
215.	Joung IM, Kunst AE, van Imhoff E, Mackenbach JP, Education.
	aging, and health: to what extent can the rise in educational level
	relieve the future health (care) burden associated with population
	aging in the Netherlands? J Clin Epidemiol 2000:53(9):955-63.
216	Ockander M. Hierope M. Timpka T. Patient-doctor concordance
	in elderly women's self-reported health and medical records.
	Methods Inf Med 2002:41(2):119-24.
217.	Nilsson SE, Johansson B, Berg S, Karlsson D, McClearn GE, A
	comparison of diagnosis capture from medical records, self-
	reports, and drug registrations: a study in individuals 80 years and
	older. Aging Clin Exp Res 2002;14(3):178-84.
218.	Ferraro KF, Su YP. Physician-evaluated and self-reported
	morbidity for predicting disability. Am J Public Health
	2000;90(1):103-8.
219.	Bergmann MM, Byers T, Freedman DS, Mokdad A. Validity of
	self-reported diagnoses leading to hospitalization: a comparison
	of self-reports with hospital records in a prospective study of
	American adults. Am J Epidemiol 1998;147(10):969-77.
220.	Engstad T, Bonaa KH, Viitanen M. Validity of self-reported
	stroke : The Tromso Study. Stroke 2000;31(7):1602-7.
221.	Sherbourne CD, Meredith LS. Quality of self-report data: a
	comparison of older and younger chronically ill patients. J
	Gerontol 1992;47(4):S204-11.
222.	Bryant LL, Corbett KK, Kutner JS. In their own words: a model
	of healthy aging. Soc Sci Med 2001;53(7):927-41.
223.	Baltes MM. Successful ageing. In: Ebrahim S, Kalache A,
	editors. Epidemiology in old age. London: BMJ Publishing
	Group; 1996.
224.	Wallhagen MI, Strawbridge WJ, Shema SJ, Kurata J, Kaplan GA.
	Comparative impact of hearing and vision impairment on
	subsequent functioning, J Am Geriatr Soc 2001:49(8):1086-92.

225.	Bowling A. The concepts of successful and positive ageing. Fam Pract 1993:10(4):449-53
226.	Harwood DM, Hawton K, Hope T, Jacoby R. Suicide in older people: mode of death, demographic factors, and medical contact hafter death. Int I Geriate Psychiatry 2000:15(8):736-43
227.	Draper B, Anstey K. Psychosocial stressors, physical illness and the spectrum of depression in elderly inpatients. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1996:30(5):567-72.
228.	Olafsdottir M, Marcusson J, Skoog I. Mental disorders among elderly people in primary care: the Linkoping study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001:104(1):12-8.
229.	Carlsten A, Waern M, Ekedahl A, Ranstam J. Antidepressant medication and suicide in Sweden. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2001:10(6):525-30.
230.	The changing rate of major depression. Cross-national comparisons. Cross-National Collaborative Group. JAMA 1992:268(21):3098-105.
231.	Isacsson G. Suicide preventiona medical breakthrough? Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000:102(2):113-7
232.	Evans JG. The gifts reserved for age. Int J Epidemiol 2002;31(4):792-5.

På grund av upphovsrättsliga skäl kan vissa ingående delarbeten ej publiceras här. För en fullständig lista av ingående delarbeten, se avhandlingens början.

Due to copyright law limitations, certain papers may not be published here. For a complete list of papers, see the beginning of the dissertation.





ISBN 91-628-5527-1

Kompendiet, Göteborg 2003